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2.

1.

Glangate
Two community shopping centres in second-tier 
regional cities

�Low level of competition

Retailers’ focus on Kyiv limits leasing potential 
in smaller cities

�Kremenchuk – design documentation completed 
and approved by State Expertise, construction 
permit in place; Rivne – land plot consolidated 
and partially rezoned

Landbank
�Land is registered on legal entities

�The Company is set to monetise its investment  
by gradual sale of rezoned land, suitable for 
construction of residential and commercial facilities

First part of land (19.9 ha) rezoned

Details

Locations:	 1. Kremenchuk, 2. Rivne
Land Title: 	 Freehold/Leasehold
Land Area: 	 9.3 ha aggregate
GLA: 	 49,926 sqm
Invested: 	 USD 11.1 million
Est Completion Date: 	 n/a
DUPD Share: 	 100%

Details

Location: 	 Kyiv suburbs
Land Title: 	 Freehold
Land Area: 	 503 ha
Invested: 	 USD 125.2 million
DUPD Share: 	 85%

Ukraine

Rivne

Kremenchuk

Ukraine

Kyiv

Kyiv
region
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Obolon
Business class residential complex with office  
and retail premises

�Favourable location on the central square  
of Obolon district in Kyiv

�Facade and commercial premises designed  
by Benoy (UK)

�Project design documentation completed  
and approved by State Expertise

First phase foundation completed

Sadok Vyshnevy
�38 apartments in a constructed town-house 
community in Kyiv suburbs

Utilities are on the site

�Individual property acts received for each  
of the properties

All homes commissioned

Details

Location: 	 � Kyiv
Land Title: 	 Leasehold
Land Area: 	 1.07 ha
Sales Area (excluding parking):	  37,647 sqm
Invested: 	 USD 24.6 million
Est Completion Date: 	 2017
DUPD Share: 	 98%

Details

Location: 	 Kyiv suburbs
Land Title: 	 Freehold
Land Area: 	 1.6 ha
Invested: 	 USD 12.8 million
Completion Date: 	 completed
DUPD Share: 	 	 100%

Kyiv

Kyiv

Kyiv region

Ukraine
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Investing Policy

Dragon – Ukrainian Properties & Development plc (‘DUPD’ or  
‘the Company’) is an ‘investing company’ for the purposes of the 
AIM Rules for Companies. The AIM Rules for Companies require 
an investing company to have in place an investing policy which 
is ‘sufficiently precise and detailed so that it is clear, specific and 
definitive’. The AIM Rules for Companies provide guidance in 
relation to what this investing policy is expected to include as  
a minimum.

As part of the changes to the AIM Rules for Companies, an 
investing company is also required to ensure that its investing 
policy is ‘regularly notified’ to shareholders (i.e. by being placed 
on an investing company’s website and included in the investing 
company’s annual accounts).

Overview
The Company was formed in 2007 to invest in the development 
of new commercial properties and redevelopment of existing 
properties in Ukraine which offered the prospect of attractive 
returns to its shareholders. As the Company is fully invested, 
it is focused on completing its existing projects and bringing 
them to a cash-generating stage.

Assets or companies in which the Company can invest
The initial focus of the Company was on the development of 
new and re-development of existing commercial properties in 
the retail, office and warehousing sectors. However, the Directors 
also considered alternative types of investment in real estate, 
including land acquisitions with development potential for 
residential projects, where they believed such investments would 
generate appropriate returns for shareholders. The Company  
also actively sought opportunities to enter into sale-and-
leaseback arrangements, mainly in the retail sector where the 
Directors believed such opportunities were likely to be present.  
In the current market environment the Company is more focused 
on opportunities to acquire completed assets or assets at the 
final stage of development at distressed valuations. The Company’s 
primary target is the acquisition of income generating properties 
in the office and retail segments, while the Company has also 
selectively assessed opportunities for acquisitions of completed 
residential properties.

The Company’s initial investment and development activities 
focused on Kyiv and Kyiv oblast as well as other major regional 
centres of Ukraine where the population exceeds 700,000 
people. The Directors believe that there are potential investment 
opportunities in smaller, yet important, centres of Ukraine which 
could also be exploited by the Company on a selective basis.

The Company has adopted a group structure of a type typically 
employed by overseas owners of Ukrainian real estate assets. 
The properties are usually owned by Ukrainian SPVs whose shares 
are typically wholly owned by Cypriot subsidiaries of the Company. 
The location of subsidiaries in Cyprus allows the Company to take 
advantage of an existing double taxation treaty between Ukraine 
and Cyprus. Subject to the limitations contained in applicable 
tax legislation and treaties, debt financing for the acquisition and 
development of properties may be provided wholly or partly by 
other SPVs resident in Cyprus or other tax favourable jurisdictions. 
The ultimate Parent Company, DUPD, is the sole owner of all 
Cypriot and other subsidiaries except where part of the project 
company is owned by DUPD’s partner in such projects. The 
Company retains the right to choose the most suitable structure 
appropriate for each transaction that is entered into by it and from 
time-to-time to consider the adoption of other corporate structures. 
DUPD is domiciled and registered in the Isle of Man.

Strategy by which the Investing Policy will be achieved
The Company expects to implement its strategy in partnership  
with one or more local property development experts. It may acquire 
properties from such partners and may make investments in, or 
form joint ventures with, them. It also retains a team of in-house 
and external local professional advisers including property 
consultants, legal, accounting and tax experts. The Company 
played an active role in selecting and supervising the projects 
in which the Company is involved.

Dragon Capital Partners Limited (‘the Manager’) has responsibility 
for identifying investment opportunities for the Company that fall 
within the investing strategy set out in this document. Once a 
potential opportunity has been identified, the Manager carries out 
a due diligence exercise into the opportunity and, after concluding 
that the project is suitable for recommendation to the Board, 
negotiates the purchase or investment or other terms with the 
relevant counter-party.
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Once this process is complete, the proposed opportunity  
is presented to the Board. The Board takes the final decision  
on whether or not to pursue the proposal.

The key factors that are likely to influence the ultimate decision to 
proceed with a project are location, marketability, price, financing 
structure and legal and ownership status.

Whenever possible, the Company aims to acquire at least a 50% 
stake in the projects it invests in, to ensure sufficient control over 
the investment.

Whether investments will be active or passive investments
The Manager takes a proactive approach to every investment 
project in the Company’s portfolio.

Holding period for investments
As the Company has no fixed life, no time limits have been set  
as a matter of investing policy generally and individual holding 
periods will vary to achieve best value from each investment.

In order to maximise returns for shareholders, the Company  
plans to exit its commercial real estate projects via sale to 
investing institutions of the delivered properties post stabilisation 
of rental income.

Spread of investments and maximum exposure limits
The Company does not have a prescribed policy in relation  
to the spread of investments or maximum exposure limits.

Policy in relation to gearing and cross holdings
The Company may borrow aggressively to optimise returns  
for shareholders up to the maximum loan-to-asset value (for  
the portfolio or any property in the overall portfolio) available 
under market conditions at the relevant time. Borrowing on  
any individual property, however, will not, in any event, exceed 
75% of the value of that property at the time of its acquisition.  
The borrowing policy will be adopted to suit the prevailing market 
conditions from time-to-time. The Company will consider 
raising debt financing by any means including, inter alia, bank 
borrowings, private debt placements or listed debt instruments. 
The Company does not have a policy on cross holdings,  
in relation to investments in other listed closed-ended  
investment funds.

Investing restrictions
Other than the requirement for the Manager to manage 
any potential conflicts of interest, and the requirement to 
invest in accordance with its investing policy, there are 
no investing restrictions.

Conflict policy
The Dragon Capital Group pursues a number of real estate 
development projects in Ukraine. Under the terms of the 
Management Agreement the Manager has no ability to commit 
the Company or any of its subsidiaries to make any acquisition or 
disposal. In the event that any affiliate of the Manager (a ‘Relevant 
Party’) has the opportunity to acquire any property in Ukraine 
which is compliant with the Company’s investment strategy (a 
‘Conflict Property’) then the Manager shall cause the Relevant 
Party to provide, inter alia, all material details of the Conflict 
Property to the Company, in order for the Company to decide 
whether or not to notify the Manager that it should pursue the 
opportunity to acquire the Conflict Property. If the Company  
so notifies the Manager of its intention to pursue the opportunity 
to acquire a Conflict Property, the Manager shall procure that  
no affiliate of the Manager shall acquire any interest in the Conflict 
Property in question without the prior consent of the Company.

Nature of returns that the Company will seek to deliver  
to shareholders
The investment objective of the Company is to provide 
shareholders with strong capital growth by taking on existing 
opportunities in the retail, office and residential sectors in 
partnership with leading developers and operators. The level  
of regular dividends will depend on the rental and other income 
(including realised capital gains) generated from the properties 
acquired, investments made or joint ventures entered into by  
the Company. The Directors intend to work towards a target 
dividend yield of 7% to 10% per annum on the USD 2.00 placing 
price and also currently intend that in due course dividends paid 
by the Company will represent not less than 85% of annual 
net profits.

The extent to which income generated on property assets can 
be distributed to shareholders by way of dividend will depend  
on, among other things, the application of Ukrainian accounting 
principles and the nature and structure of the acquisitions made 
including, where relevant, the inherited accounting policies of  
any property-holding target company which may be purchased. 
As a result, it is possible that not all of the trading profits recorded 
in the Company’s consolidated financial statements will be 
available to the Directors in the form of distributable profits from 
which to pay dividends. In that event, the Directors will consider 
alternative means of returning funds to shareholders.
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Board of Directors

Aloysius Wilhelmus Johannes van der Heijden
(aged 64)
Non-Executive Chairman

Mr. van der Heijden has worked in the real estate industry for 
30 years, a large part of which he spent as a General Director  
of Beheer Brouwershoff Amsterdam B.V., a private investment 
company of Drs. C. van Zadelhoff with a core business in capital 
investment, predominantly in real estate and also commercial 
real estate brokerage and advisory services. Currently, he is  
a non-executive partner of DTZ Zadelhoff (The Netherlands), 
Director of DTZ Zadelhoff Tie Leung Central & Eastern Europe 
and N.V. Het Havengebouw.

Fredrik Svinhufvud
(aged 58)
Non-Executive Director

Fredrik Svinhufvud is currently Managing Partner in 2ER  
(www.2er.com.ua). 2ER is a holding company for Vindkraft Ukraina 
which is active within development and production of renewable 
energy in the Kherson Region in Ukraine. Fredrik started his 
professional career as a field engineer with Schlumberger Oil Field 
Services and has later held several international positions within the 
same sector in both South and North America, the North Sea and 
Russia with Schlumberger, Atlas Copco, Geco Well Services and 
Malka Oil (publ.) respectively. From 1994 he was at first Factory 
Manager and from 2001-2007 Managing Director at Tetra Pak 
Ukraine. In March 2006 Fredrik was voted the President of the 
European Business Association (EBA) in Ukraine. Fredrik also 
owns and operates his family estate in the south of Sweden.

Nikolay Artemenko
(aged 37)
Non-Executive Director

Mr. Artemenko is the CEO of RosEvroDevelopment, a large 
real estate developer. Under his leadership, the company’s Net 
Operating Income has increased by 50%, while he has managed 
to streamline the project pipeline and started several ambitious 
projects with total area of 500,000 sqm. Prior to joining 
RosEvroDevelopment Mr. Artemenko was Vice President of 
the National Logistic Company for four years and in that time 
he turned NLC into the biggest third-party logistics operator 
in Russia and successfully managed the USD 460 million deal 
of NLC acquisition by ITELLA, an international logistics provider. 
Mr. Artemenko has also worked in Merlion which is the largest 
IT corporation on the Russian market, first as its CFO and later 
as CEO. He developed the Company’s strategy, restructured 
its distribution, centralised procurement and logistics. 
Mr. Artemenko holds a Master of Science degree from the 
Moscow Institute of Physics and Technology (state university).
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Rory Macnamara
(aged 58)
Non-Executive Director

Rory Macnamara qualified as an ACA with Price Waterhouse 
before joining Morgan Grenfell, later Deutsche Morgan Grenfell,  
in 1981 as an investment banker. Over the following 17 years he 
advised clients on a wide range of corporate finance and M&A 
issues and became Head of the Advisory/M&A division in 1995 
and Deputy Chairman the following year. In 1999 Rory joined 
Lehman Brothers as Head of UK Coverage and led teams 
advising a number of major UK and international clients. In 2001 
he became an independent consultant working with Lehman 
Brothers on M&A projects and with other companies on their 
business development and financial and acquisition strategies. 
Besides this extensive corporate finance experience he also 
brings a significant understanding of public company 
management and shareholder value enhancement from the 
many boards he has joined and led over the past ten years.

Tomas Fiala
(aged 38)
Non-Executive Director

Mr. Fiala has been the principal shareholder and Managing 
Director of Dragon Capital Group, a Kyiv-based investment 
bank, since April 2000. Mr. Fiala started his career at Bayerische 
Vereinsbank in Prague in 1994, continuing studies at the Prague 
University of Economics. In 1995, Mr. Fiala joined Wood & Co., a 
leading investment bank in the Central and Eastern Europe, and 
was sent a year later to Ukraine to establish and run their office 
in the country. Under his leadership, Wood & Co. became the 
largest investment bank in Ukraine. Following the 1998 financial 
crisis Mr. Fiala established Dragon Capital as a brokerage and  
has since grown it into a leading Ukrainian investment house 
specialising in brokerage, investment banking, securities trading, 
asset management and private equity investments.

Mr. Fiala is currently serving as a Chairman of the Supervisory 
Board of Karlivka Machine-building Plant, Ukraine’s leading 
agricultural equipment producer. He is also a Chairman of 
the Supervisory Board of Nova Liniya, one of the largest 
DIY supermarket chains in Ukraine. Since December 2010, 
Mr. Fiala has served as elected President of the European 
Business Association (EBA). He is also a member of the 
Council of Investors, established by the President of Ukraine 
in January 2011.
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Directors’ Report

The Directors present their annual report and the audited Consolidated and Parent Company financial statements of Dragon-Ukrainian 
Properties & Development plc (the Parent Company) and its subsidiaries (the Group) as at for the year ended 31 December 2012.

Principal activities
The principal activities of the Group are investing in the development of new properties and redevelopment of existing properties 
in Ukraine.

The Parent Company was incorporated in the Isle of Man on 23 February 2007. The Parent Company’s registered office at the date 
when this Directors’ report was approved is 2nd Floor, Belgravia House, 34-44 Circular Road, Douglas, Isle of Man IM1 1AE (before 
17 December 2012 – Standard Bank House, One Circular Road, Douglas, Isle of Man, IM1 1SB) and its principal place of business  
is Ukraine.

On 1 June 2007 the Company raised USD 208 million through an Initial Public Offering on the Alternative Investment Market (AIM) 
in London. On 29 November 2007 the Company completed a secondary placing on AIM and raised USD 100 million.

Results
The Group made a loss for the year ended 31 December 2012 before taxation of USD 16.28 million (2011 – loss of USD 78.643 million), 
all of which has been transferred to reserves.

Dividend
No dividend has been paid during the year ended 31 December 2012 (2011: None)

The Directors do not propose a final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2012 (2011: None).

Directors
The Directors of the Company during the year and to date are:

Aloysius Wilhelmus Johannes van der Heijden
Date of appointment 10 April 2007

Fredrik Svinhufvud
Date of appointment 10 April 2007

Tomas Fiala
Date of appointment 26 February 2007

Rory Macnamara
Date of appointment 6 December 2011

Nikolai Artemenko
Date of appointment 14 February 2012

Directors’ interests
The Directors interests in shares in the Parent Company as at 31 December as follows:

	 2012	 	 2011

					     Number 	 Ownership,	 Number	 Ownership, 
					     of shares	  %	 of shares	  %

Aloysius Johannes van der Heijden					     200,000	 0.18	 200,000	 0.18
Tomas Fiala				    	 16,085,227	 14.71	 9,804,069	 8.96
				    	 16,285,227	 14.89	10,004,069	 9.14

Mr. Tomas Fiala, one of the Parent Company’s Directors, is the principal shareholder and Managing Director of Dragon Capital Group 
which acquired 6,831,500 shares (6.25%) of the Parent Company’s during the first (June 2007) and second (November 2007) share 
issues. Also Mr. Tomas Fiala is a Director in Dragon Capital Partners (Investment Manager) which has received 1,698,416 (1.55%) 
ordinary shares at a price of USD 2.60 per ordinary share to settle 70% of the Investment Manager’s performance fee for 2007  
in the amount of USD 4,432 thousand.
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Through a series of market purchases in 2011 (totalling 1,274,153 ordinary shares) and 2012 (totalling 6,281,158 ordinary shares) 
the holding of Dragon Capital Group in the Parent Company has increased to 16,085,227 or 14.71% as at 31 December 2012.

Auditors
Our auditors, KPMG Audit LLC, being eligible, have expressed their willingness to continue in office in accordance with Section 12 (2) 
of the Isle of Man Companies Act 1982.

By Order of the Board

Aloysius Wilhelmus Johannes van der Heijden
Non-Executive Chairman
29 April 2013
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Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities in Respect  
of the Directors’ Report and the Financial Statements

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Directors’ Report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable law  
and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year, which meet the requirements of Isle 
of Man company law. In addition, the Directors have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards.

The financial statements are required by law to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and Parent Company  
and of the profit or loss of the Company for that period.

In preparing these financial statements, the Directors are required to:

•	 select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
•	 make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; 
•	 state whether they have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards; and
•	 prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Group and Parent 

Company will continue in business.

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the Parent Company’s 
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Parent Company and to enable them to 
ensure that its financial statements comply with the Companies Acts 1931 to 2004. They have general responsibility for taking such 
steps as are reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information included on the Company’s 
website. Legislation governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from one jurisdiction to another.

Aloysius Wilhelmus Johannes van der Heijden
Non-Executive Chairman
29 April 2013
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Directors’ Remuneration Report

The Directors have each entered into a letter of appointment governed by English Law. The terms of appointment for each Director 
are set out below.

Name Position Annual Fee Date of appointment Notice period

Aloysius Wilhelmus 
Johannes van  
der Heijden

Non-Executive Chairman USD 75,000 plus applicable VAT  
payable quarterly in arrears.

 10 April 2007 The Director or Company 
may terminate on three 
months’ written notice.

The Company has agreed to reimburse Mr. van der Heijden for reasonably incurred expenses in the course of his duties  
to the Company.

Fredrik Svinhufvud Non-Executive Director USD 50,000 payable quarterly  
in arrears.

10 April 2007 The Director or Company 
may terminate on three 
months’ written notice.

The Company has agreed to reimburse Mr. Svinhufvud for reasonably incurred expenses in the course of his duties to the Company.

Tomas Fiala Non-Executive Director No fee. 26 February 2007 The Director or Company 
may terminate on three 
months’ written notice.

The Company has, however, agreed to reimburse Mr. Fiala for reasonably incurred expenses in the course of his duties  
to the Company.

Rory Macnamara Non-Executive Director USD 50,000 plus applicable VAT  
payable quarterly in arrears.

6 December 2011 The Director or Company 
may terminate on three 
months’ written notice.

The Company has agreed to reimburse Mr. Macnamara for reasonably incurred expenses in the course of his duties to the Company.

Nikolai Artemenko Non-Executive Director USD 50,000 payable quarterly  
in arrears.

10 February 2012 The Director or Company 
may terminate on three 
months’ written notice.

The Company has agreed to reimburse Mr. Nikolai Artemenko for reasonably incurred expenses in the course of the duties  
to the Company.

There is no limitation on the aggregate amount of remuneration payable to the Directors under the Articles.

The aggregate amount paid to Directors for the period ending 31 December 2012 was equal to USD 244 thousand. Pursuant to 
Article 96 of Company’s Articles of Association each Director is entitled for a fee of GBP 1 thousand each time Director physically 
attends a meeting of the Board in the Isle of Man. The Company also reimbursed all reasonable travel expenses.

There were no other payments besides the ones mentioned above being paid to the Directors for the period ending 31 December 2012.

F
in

an
cial

S
tatem

en
ts

G
o

vern
an

ce
B

u
sin

ess
R

eview



Dragon – Ukrainian Properties & Development plc
Annual Report & Accounts 2012

28

Corporate Governance

Combined code
The Directors recognise the importance of sound corporate governance. The Company has complied, where possible, with the 
Corporate Governance Guidelines for AIM Companies published by the Quoted Companies Alliance. The Directors are committed 
to maintaining the highest standards of corporate governance in future.

The Board and Board Committees
The Board is comprised of five Directors: the Chairman, Aloysius Wilhelmus Johannes van der Heijden, and four Non-Executive 
Directors: Fredrik Svinhufvud, Tomas Fiala, Rory Macnamara, Nikolai Artemenko. The Chairman holds an option over shares of the 
Company, as described in the notes to financial statements and in addition to this during the year 2008 has bought in the market 
200,000 Company’s shares. Save in that respect, the Board considers the Chairman and all Directors with the exception of Tomas 
Fiala to be independent for the purposes of the above-mentioned Corporate Governance Guidelines. The letters of appointment 
of all Directors are available for inspection at the Company’s registered office during normal business hours.

The Board meets from time to time as required by the business of the Company but at least once per quarter to take decisions 
on investment projects, review the progress on the current projects and to consider general matters affecting the Company and 
otherwise as required. In case there are questions which do not require discussion by the Board members they are put for voting 
through the written resolution of the Board. The Board has a tendency to decide questions by the way of consensus though the 
Articles of Association foresee majority voting. The Board has appointed an Audit Committee, particulars of which appear hereafter.

An Ad-hoc Business Committee has been established to take decisions on settling outstanding bills of less than USD 10,000 
individually and less than USD 100,000 collectively per month, which are expected to relate, in the course of the Company’s business, 
to approve smaller amounts, such as payments to legal advisors, preliminary financial reviews, as well as participation of the Manager 
in certain industry events like real estate forums/exhibitions. The Ad-hoc Business Committee consists of Tomas Fiala and meets on 
an ad-hoc basis, whenever there is a need for such a meeting.

The Audit Committee is chaired by Mr. Rory Macnamara and consists of Mr. Svinhufvud and Mr. van der Heijden. The Audit 
Committee meets at least twice a year and otherwise on an ad-hoc basis as required. The Audit Committee reviews the annual 
and interim accounts, deals with monitoring the quality of internal controls, ensures that the financial performance of the company 
is properly monitored and reported on and also ensures proper accounting standards and that the application of the Company’s 
accounting policies are adhered to, meeting with the Company’s auditors and reviewing reports from the auditors relating to 
accounting and internal controls.

The number of meetings of the full Board, and the Audit Committee attended by each Director during 2012 is set out below.

	 Full Board meetings		 Audit Committee 
	 2012	 	 2012

					    Held	 Attended	 Held	 Attended

Aloysius Wilhelmus Johannes van der Heijden					     7	 7	 2	 2
Fredrik Svinhufvud					     7	 7	 2	 2
Rory Macnamara					     7	 7	 not a member	 not a member
Tomas Fiala					     7	 7	 not a member	 not a member
Nikolai Artemenko					     7	 7	 not a member	 not a member

In addition 11 written resolutions have been passed during 2012 on different Company issues where all the Directors used their vote.

Risk management and internal control
Risk management is the responsibility of the Audit Committee, which is responsible to the Board for ensuring that procedures are in 
place, and are being effectively implemented to identify, evaluate and manage any significant risks faced by the Company. An outline of 
major risk factors affecting the Company was described in the admission document and is regularly reviewed by the Audit Committee 
for their importance to the Company and for the controls that are in place. The Board, on the advice of the Manager, updates this risk 
outline as changes arise in the nature of risks and reviews and amends controls that are necessary to mitigate them. The Audit 
Committee reviews the risk outline and the effectiveness of the risk-modeling undertaken by the Manager on a regular basis.

Relations with shareholders
The Board acknowledges that its primary role is to represent and promote the interests of shareholders. The Board is accountable to 
shareholders for the performance and activities of the Company. The Board encourages participation at the Annual General Meeting 
at which a detailed review of the business and objectives of the Company are given to shareholders. The Company proposes 
separate resolutions at the AGM for each substantially separate issue, and there is always an individual resolution relating to the annual 
report and financial statements. The Chairman of the Board and the Managing Director of the Manager meet major shareholders several 
times a year, and financial results are reported to them every six months. Investors have also access to current information on the 
Company through its website www.dragon-upd.com, which is constantly updated.
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Report of the Independent Auditors, KPMG Audit LLC,  
to the members of Dragon – Ukrainian Properties & 
Development PLC

We have audited the financial statements of Dragon – Ukrainian Properties & Development PLC for the year ended 31 December 
2012 which comprise the Group and Parent Company Statements of Financial Position, the Group and Parent Company Statements 
of Comprehensive Income, the Group and Parent Company Statement of Cash Flows and the Group and Parent Company Statement of 
Changes in Equity and the related notes. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law 
and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the EU.

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Section 15 of the Companies Act 1982. 
Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members those matters we are required to state to 
them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility 
to anyone other than the Company and the Company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions 
we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of Directors and Auditor
As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement set out on page 26, the Directors are responsible for the preparation 
of financial statements that give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit, and express an opinion on, the financial statements 
in accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with 
the Auditing Practices Board’s (APB’s) Ethical Standards for Auditors.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable 
assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an 
assessment of: whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Group’s circumstances and have been consistently applied 
and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the Directors; and the overall presentation 
of the financial statements.

Opinion on the financial statements
In our opinion the financial statements:

•	 give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s and Parent Company’s affairs as at 31 December 2012 and of the Group’s loss 
for the year then ended;

•	 have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU; and
•	 have been properly prepared in accordance with the provisions of Companies Acts 1931 to 2004.
 
Matters on which we are required to report by exception 
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Companies Acts 1931 to 2004 require us to report to you if, 
in our opinion:

•	 proper books of account have not been kept by the Parent Company and proper returns adequate for our audit have not been 
received from branches not visited by us; or 

•	 the Parent Company’s Statement of Financial Position and Statement of Comprehensive Income are not in agreement with the 
books of account and returns; or 

•	 certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or
•	 we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

KPMG Audit LLC
Chartered Accountants
Heritage Court
41 Athol Street
Douglas
Isle of Man 
IM99 1HN

29 April 2013

F
in

an
cial

S
tatem

en
ts

G
o

vern
an

ce
B

u
sin

ess
R

eview



Dragon – Ukrainian Properties & Development plc
Annual Report & Accounts 2012

30

Consolidated and Parent Company Statements  
of Financial Position as at 31 December 2012

						      Parent		  Parent  
					    Consolidated	 Company	 Consolidated	 Company
(in thousands of USD)				    Note	 2012	 2012	 2011	 2011

Assets					   
Non-current assets					   
Investment properties				    5	 40,497	 2	 77,039	 2
Prepayments for land				    6	 57,200	 –	 67,100	 –
Investments in subsidiaries				    8	 –	 5,045	 –	 6,545
Investments in associates				    7	 43,802	 41,089	 43,863	 42,239
Long-term loans receivable				    9	 632	 –	 920	 –
Property and equipment					     225	 –	 20	 –
Intangible assets					     4	 –	 14	 10
Total non-current assets					     142,360	 46,136	 188,956	 48,796
Current assets					   
Inventories				    10	 44,580	 –	 10,248	 –
Loans to Group companies				    12	 –	 152,145	 –	 150,956
Trade and other receivables				    11	 3,427	 1,474	 1,749	 352
VAT recoverable					     1,249	 –	 744	 –
Prepaid income tax					     47	 –	 59	 –
Cash and cash equivalents				    13	 21,715	 15,049	 28,704	 23,052
Total current assets					     71,018	 168,668	 41,504	 174,360
Total assets					     213,378	 214,804	 230,460	 223,156
Equity and liabilities					   
Equity				    14				  
Share capital					     2,187	 2,187	 2,187	 2,187
Share premium					     277,265	 277,265	 277,265	 277,265
(Accumulated losses)/retained earnings				    	 (75,328)	 (66,460)	 (61,560)	 (57,984)
Total equity attributable to equity holders of the Parent Company			   204,124	 212,992	 217,892	 221,468
Non-controlling interest					     (6,084)	 –	 (4,582)	 –
Total equity					     198,040	 212,992	 213,310	 221,468
Non-current liabilities					   
Finance lease liabilities				     15	 367	 –	 3,098	 –
Deferred tax liabilities				    16	 9,753	 –	 10,777	 –
Total non-current liabilities					     10,120	 –	 13,875	 –
Current liabilities					   
Trade and other payables				    17	 5,141	 1,812	 3,240	 1,688
Current portion of finance lease liabilities				    15	 71	 –	 31	 –
Income tax payable					     6	 –	 4	 –
Total current liabilities					     5,218	 1,812	 3,275	 1,688
Total liabilities					     15,338	 1,812	 17,150	 1,688
Total equity and liabilities					     213,378	 214,804	 230,460	 223,156
					   
These Consolidated and Parent Company financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 29 April 2013 and were 
signed on its behalf by:

Aloysius Johannes van der Heijden		  Rory Macnamara
Chairman of the Board				    Non-Executive Director

The Consolidated and Parent Company statements of financial position are to be read in conjunction with the notes to, and forming 
part of, the financial statements set out on pages 35 to 66.
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Consolidated and Parent Company Statements of 
Comprehensive Income for the year ended 31 December 2012

						      Parent		  Parent  
					    Consolidated	 Company	 Consolidated	 Company
(in thousands of USD)				    Note	 2012	 2012	 2011	 2011

Rental income from investment property					     18	 –	 34	 –
Profit from sales of investment properties					     280	 309	 287	 636
Loss on revaluation of investment properties				    5	 (634)	 –	 (9,291)	 –
Impairment loss on prepayments for land				    6	 (10,217)	 –	 (57,744)	 –
Write-down of trading property to net realisable value				    10	 (1,700)	 –	 (2,000)	 –
Management fee				    18	 (3,109)	 (3,109)	 (3,315)	 (3,315)
Administrative expenses				    20	 (2,938)	 (2,140)	 (1,920)	 (678)
Other income					     69	 –	 25	 –
Other expenses				    	 (53)	 –	 (371)	 –
Loss from operating activities					     (18,284)	 (4,940)	 (74,295)	 (3,357)
Gain on disposal of subsidiary				    4	 8	 (42)	 –	 –
Impairment of investments					     –	 (2,609)	 –	 (54)
Net finance income/(costs)				    21	 52	 (888)	 (2,131)	 (98,877)
Share of the profit/(loss) of associates				    7	 1,944	 –	 (2,217)	 –
Loss before income tax					     (16,280)	 (8,479)	 (78,643)	 (102,288)
Income tax benefit				    16	 1,007	 –	 1,149	 –
Net loss and total comprehensive loss for the year	 		  	 (15,273)	 (8,479)	 (77,494)	 (102,288)
Attributable to:					   
Equity holders of the Parent Company					     (13,771)	 (8,479)	 (73,970)	 (102,288)
Non-controlling interest					     (1,502)	 –	 (3,524)	 –
Net loss and total comprehensive loss for the year	 			   (15,273)	 (8,479)	 (77,494)	 (102,288)
Loss per share					   
Basic loss per share (in USD)				    23	 (0.13)	 (0.08)	 (0.63)	 (0.87)
Diluted loss per share (in USD)				    23	 (0.13)	 (0.08)	 (0.63)	 (0.87)

The Directors believe that all results are derived from continuing activities.

The Consolidated and Parent Company statements of comprehensive income are to be read in conjunction with the notes to, 
and forming part of, the financial statements set out on pages 35 to 66.
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Consolidated and Parent Company Statements  
of Cash Flows for the year ended 31 December 2012

						      Parent		  Parent  
					    Consolidated	 Company	 Consolidated	 Company
(in thousands of USD)				    Note	 2012	 2012	 2011	 2011

Cash flows from operating activities					   
Loss before income tax					     (16,280)	 (8,479)	 (78,643)	 (102,288)
Adjustments for:					   
Write-down of trading property to net realisable value				    10	 1,700	 –	 2,000	 –
Loss/(gain) on disposal of subsidiaries				    4	 (8)	 42	 –	 –
Impairment of investments					     –	 2,609	 –	 54
Loss on revaluation of investment properties				    5	 634	 –	 9,291	 –
Impairment loss on prepayments for land				    6	 10,217	 –	 57,744	 –
Depreciation					     11	 10	 38	 8
Share of the (profit)/loss of associates				    7	 (1,944)	 –	 2,217	 –
Unrealised currency exchange (gain)/losses				    21	 (42)	 (15)	 96	 15
Net financial (income)/costs, excluding unrealised currency exchange losses		 21	 (10)	 903	 2,035	 98,862
Operating cash flows before changes in working capital				    (5,722)	 (4,930)	 (5,222)	 (3,349)
Change in inventories				    	 (2,568)	 –	 (11)	 –
Change in trade and other receivables					     (1,045)	 16	 (685)	 1
Change in trade and other payables					     1,905	 124	 (626)	 (883)
Share-based payments				    19	 3	 3	 6	 6
Income tax paid					     (3)	 –	 (7)	 –
Interest paid					     (91)	 –	 (379)	 –
Cash flows used in operating activities					     (7,521)	 (4,787)	 (6,924)	 (4,225)
Cash flows from investing activities					   
Interest received					     85	 56	 348	 10
Acquisition and development of investment property				    5	 (60)	 –	 (6,233)	 –
Acquisition of property, equipment and intangible assets				    (206)	 –	 –	 –
Prepayments for land				    6	 (317)	 –	 (750)	 –
Loans granted					     –	 –	 (2,701)	 –
Repayments of loans granted					     304	 –	 4,555	 –
Loans to Group companies (granted)/repaid					     –	 (4,159)	 –	 7,956
Dividends received				    7	 873	 873	 569	 569
Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries				    4	 4	 5	 –	 –
Investments in associates				    7	 (6)	 (6)	 –	 –
Cash flows from/(used in) investing activities					     677	 (3,231)	 (4,212)	 8,535
Cash flows from financing activities					   
Repurchase of own shares					     –	 –	 (4,979)	 (4,979)
Repayment of finance lease liability					     (187)	 –	 –	 –
Cash flows used in financing activities					     (187)	 –	 (4,979)	 (4,979)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents					     (7,031)	 (8,018)	 (16,115)	 (669)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January					     28,704	 23,052	 44,915	 23,736
Effect of foreign exchange fluctuation on cash balances				    42	 15	 (96)	 (15)
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December				    13	 21,715	 15,049	 28,704	 23,052

The Consolidated and Parent Company statements of cash flows are to be read in conjunction with the notes to, and forming part of, 
the financial statements set out on pages 35 to 66.
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Consolidated and Parent Company Statements  
of Changes in Equity for the year ended 31 December 2012

	 Attributable to equity holders of the Parent Company

					     Retained 
					     earnings		  Non- 
			   Share	 Share	 (accumulated		  controlling 
(in thousands of USD)			   capital	 premium	 losses)	 Total	 interest	 Total

Consolidated
Balances at 1 January 2011			   2,354	 282,077	 12,404	 296,835	 (1,058)	 295,777
Total comprehensive income loss for the year						    
Net loss			   –	 –	 (73,970)	 (73,970)	 (3,524)	 (77,494)
Total comprehensive loss for the year			   –	 –	 (73,970)	 (73,970)	 (3,524)	 (77,494)
Transactions with owners, recorded directly in equity	 					   
Contributions by and distributions to owners						    
Own shares acquired			   (167)	 (4,812)	 –	 (4,979)	 –	 (4,979)
Share-based compensation			   –	 –	 6	 6	 –	 6
Total contributions by and distributions to owners 			   (167)	 (4,812)	 6	 (4,973)	 –	 (4,973)
Balances at 31 December 2011			   2,187	 277,265	 (61,560) 	 217,892	 (4,582)	 213,310
Total comprehensive loss for the year			 
Net loss			   –	 –	 (13,771)	 (13,771)	 (1,502)	 (15,273)
Total comprehensive loss for the year			   –	 –	 (13,771)	 (13,771)	 (1,502)	 (15,273)
Transactions with owners, recorded directly in equity	 					   
Contributions by and distributions to owners						    
Share-based compensation			   –	 –	 3	 3	 –	 3
Total contributions by and distributions to owners			   –	 –	 3	 3	 –	 3
Balances at 31 December 2012			   2,187	 277,265	 (75,328)	 204,124	 (6,084)	 198,040

The Consolidated and Parent Company statements of changes in equity are to be read in conjunction with the notes to, and forming 
part of, the financial statements set out on pages 35 to 66.
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Consolidated and Parent Company Statements  
of Changes in Equity for the year ended 31 December 2012 
continued

						      	 Retained 
							       earnings 
					     Share	 Share	 (accumulated
(in thousands of USD)					     capital	 premium	 losses)	 Total

Parent Company
Balances at 1 January 2011					     2,354	 282,077	 44,298	 328,729
Total comprehensive income for the year				  
Net loss					     –	 –	 (102,288)	 (102,288)
Total comprehensive loss for the year					     –	 –	 (102,288)	 (102,288)
Transactions with owners, recorded directly in equity	 			 
Contributions by and distributions to owners				  
Repurchase of own shares					     (167)	 (4,812)	 –	 (4,979)
Share-based compensation					     –	 –	 6	 6
Total contributions by and distributions to owners					     (167)	 (4,812)	 6	 (4,973)
Balances at 31 December 2011					     2,187	 277,265	 (57,984)	 221,468
Total comprehensive income for the year				  
Net loss					     –	 –	 (8,479)	 (8,479)
Total comprehensive loss for the year				    	 –	 –	 (8,479)	 (8,479)
Transactions with owners, recorded directly in equity	 			 
Contributions by and distributions to owners				  
Share-based compensation					     –	 –	 3	 3
Total contributions by and distributions to owners				    	 –	 –	 3	 3
Balances at 31 December 2012					     2,187	 277,265	 (66,460)	 212,992

The Consolidated and Parent Company statements of changes in equity are to be read in conjunction with the notes to, and forming 
part of, the financial statements set out on pages 35 to 66.
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Notes to the Consolidated and Parent Company  
Financial Statements

1	 Background
(a)	 Organisation and operations
Dragon – Ukrainian Properties & Development plc (the Parent Company) was incorporated in the Isle of Man on 23 February 2007. 
The Parent Company’s registered office at the date when these financial statements were approved was 2nd Floor, Belgravia House, 
34-44 Circular Road, Douglas, Isle of Man IM1 1AE (before 17 December 2012 – Standard Bank House, One Circular Road, Douglas, 
Isle of Man, IM1 1SB) and its principal place of business is Ukraine.

On 1 June 2007 the Parent Company raised USD 208 million through an initial public offering on the Alternative Investment Market 
(AIM) of the London Stock Exchange. On 29 November 2007 the Parent Company completed a secondary placing on AIM and raised 
USD 100 million.

The consolidated financial statements as at 31 December 2012 comprise the Parent Company and its subsidiaries and the Group’s 
interest in associates (together referred to as the “Group”).

The main activities of the Group are investing in the development of new properties and redevelopment of existing properties in Ukraine.

(b)	 Business environment
Ukraine is experiencing political and economic change that has affected, and may continue to affect, the activities of enterprises 
operating in this environment. Consequently, operations in Ukraine involve risks that typically do not exist in other markets. In addition, 
contraction in the capital and credit markets and the impact of this on the economy of Ukraine have further increased the level of 
uncertainty in the economic environment.

The consolidated financial statements reflect the Directors’ current assessment of the impact of the Ukrainian business environment 
on the operations and the financial position of the Group. The future business environment may differ from the Directors’ assessment.

2	 Basis of preparation
(a)	 Statement of compliance
These Consolidated and Parent Company financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU.

(b)	 Basis of measurement
The Consolidated and Parent Company financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis except for investment properties, 
which are carried at fair value.

(c)	 Functional and presentation currency
These Consolidated and Parent Company financial statements are presented in thousands of US dollars (USD).

The Group consists of entities that are domiciled in Ukraine, Cyprus, British Virgin Islands and Isle of Man, and as a result there are 
a number of currencies in use by Group entities.

However, Directors believe that the most appropriate functional and presentation currency for all consolidated entities and 
these consolidated financial statements is US dollars. All funds raised by the Parent Company are in US dollars, and all project 
developments are based on US dollars. Deposits and prepayments are also in US dollars. All financial information presented 
in US dollars is rounded to the nearest thousand.

For Ukrainian entities there are certain transactions in Ukrainian Hryvnia, which is not a convertible currency.

(d)	 Use of judgments, estimates and assumptions
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS as adopted by the EU requires the Directors to make judgments, 
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, 
income and expenses and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the 
period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected.

In particular, information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgments in applying accounting policies that 
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements and could lead to significant 
adjustment in the next financial year are included in the following notes:

•	 Notes 3(d) and 3(h) – Classification between investment properties and inventories;
•	 Note 5 – Valuation of investment properties;
•	 Note 6 – Valuation of prepayments for land;
•	 Note 7 – Associates; and
•	 Note 10 – Net realisable value of trading property.
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Notes to the Consolidated and Parent Company  
Financial Statements continued

2	 Basis of preparation continued
(e)	 Corresponding figures – change in presentation
During the year ended 31 December 2012, the Directors identified certain areas for improvement in order to achieve a more 
appropriate presentation of the consolidated financial statements. International Financial Reporting Standard IAS 1 Presentation 
of Financial Statements requires that comparative amounts are reclassified when presentation or reclassification of items is changed 
in the financial statements. The following presentation was changed in the Parent Company statement of cash flows:

Presentation of loans granted to (repaid by) Group companies
In the Parent Company financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2011 loans repaid by Group companies of USD 7,956 
thousand were presented as cash flow from operating activities. During the year ended 31 December 2012, the Directors decided 
to present the loans granted to (repaid by) Group companies as cash flows used in (from) investing activities.

3	 Significant accounting policies
The accounting policies set out below are applied consistently to all periods presented in these consolidated financial statements and are 
applied consistently by Group entities, except as explained in note 2(e), which addresses change in presentation of corresponding figures.

(a)	 Basis of consolidation
(i)	 Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Control exists when the Group has the power to govern the financial and operating 
policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. In assessing control, potential voting rights arising from presently 
exercisable call options are taken into account.

The financial results of subsidiaries are included in the Consolidated and Parent Company financial statements from the date 
that control commences until the date that control ceases. Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements 
of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with those used by the Group.

The results of subsidiaries acquired during the year are included in profit or loss from the effective date of acquisition. Losses 
applicable to the non-controlling interest in a subsidiary are allocated to the non-controlling interest even if doing so causes the 
non-controlling interest to have a deficit balance.

Any premium and discount arising on the acquisition of a non-controlling interest in a subsidiary represents the excess/deficiency 
of the cost of the additional investment over/under the carrying amount of the net assets acquired at the date of exchange. The effect 
of these transactions is recognised directly in equity.

On the loss of control, the Group derecognises the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary, any non-controlling interests and other 
components of equity related to the subsidiary. Any surplus or deficit arising on the loss of control is recognised in profit or loss. 
If the Group retains any interest in the previous subsidiary, then such interest is measured at fair value at the date that control is 
lost. Subsequently that retained interest is accounted for as an equity-accounted investee or as an available-for-sale financial 
asset depending on the level of influence retained.

In the financial statements of the Parent Company subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less impairment.
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Consolidated subsidiaries include the following:

(in thousands of USD, except for % of ownership)					     Cost	 % of ownership

				    Country of		   
Name				   incorporation	 2012	 2011	 2012	 2011

Bi Dolyna Development LLC				    Ukraine	 28	 28	 100%	 100%
EF Nova Oselya LLC				    Ukraine	 51	 48	 100%	 100%
Glangate LTD				    Cyprus	 2	 2	 100%	 100%
Grand Development LLC				    Ukraine	 4,732	 2,482	 100%	 100%
J Komfort Neruhomist LLC				    Ukraine	 1,505	 1,096	 100%	 100%
Korona Development LLC				    Ukraine	 1,514	 1,134	 100%	 100%
Landshere LTD				    Cyprus	 3	 3	 95%	 95%
Landzone LTD				    Cyprus	 6,503	 6,503	 100%	 100%
Linkdell LTD				    Cyprus	 3	 3	 100%	 100%
Linkrose LTD				    Cyprus	 3	 3	 100%	 100%
Mountcrest LTD				    Cyprus	 64	 64	 100%	 100%
OJSC “Dom byta “Obolon”				    Ukraine	 16,470	 16,470	 98%	 98%
Riverscope LTD				    Cyprus	 3	 3	 95%	 95%
Startide LTD				    Cyprus	 3	 3	 100%	 100%
Ukrainian Development Holding LTD			   (2)	 Cyprus	 –	 46	 0%	 100%
Ukrainian Properties LTD			   (2)	 Cyprus	 –	 1	 0%	 100%
Blueberg Trading Ltd				    BVI	 –	 –	 100%	 100%
Stenfield Finance Ltd				    BVI	 –	 –	 100%	 100%
New Region LLC				    Ukraine	 4,507	 4,507	 100%	 100%
Rivnobud LLC				    Ukraine	 4,471	 4,471	 100%	 100%
Commercial project LLC				    Ukraine	 1	 1	 100%	 100%
Riviera Villas LLC				    Ukraine	 360	 –	 100%	 100%
Z Development LLC			   (1)	 Ukraine	 25	 –	 100%	 0%
Z Neruhomist LLC			   (1)	 Ukraine	 19	 –	 100%	 0%
Closed investment fund “Development”			   (1)	 Ukraine	 178	 –	 100%	 0%

(1) – Newly established subsidiaries.
(2) – Subsidiaries disposed of in 2012.

On 3 March 2012 Startide LTD acquired 100% in the closed non-diversified venture investment fund “Development” (Fund “Development”) 
through the purchase of 14,300 investment certificates for a total consideration of USD 178 thousand. The Group intends to use Fund 
“Development” as a financial vehicle for the Obolon project (detailed in note 5).

(ii)	 Associates
Associates are those entities in which the Group has significant influence, but not control, over the financial and operating policies. 
Significant influence is presumed to exist when the Group holds between 20% and 50% of the voting power of another entity. 
In certain cases when the Group has less than 20% of the voting power of another entity, this entity is still accounted for as 
an associate on the basis of significant influence (see note 7).

Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method and are recognised initially at cost. The cost of the investment 
includes transaction costs.

The consolidated financial statements include the Group’s share of the income and expenses and equity movements of associates, 
after adjustments to align the accounting policies with those of the Group, from the date that significant influence commences until 
the date that significant influence ceases.

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in an associate, the carrying amount of that interest including any long-term 
investments, is reduced to zero, and the recognition of further losses is discontinued, except to the extent that the Group has an 
obligation to or has made payments on behalf of the investee.

In the financial statements of the Parent Company investments in associates are accounted for at cost less impairment.
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Notes to the Consolidated and Parent Company  
Financial Statements continued

3	 Significant accounting policies continued
(a)	 Basis of consolidation continued
(iii)	 Jointly controlled operations
A jointly controlled operation is a joint venture carried on by each venturer using its own assets in pursuit of the joint operations. The 
consolidated financial statements include the assets that the Group controls and the liabilities that it incurs in the course of pursuing 
the joint operation, and the expenses that the Group incurs and its share of the income that it earns from the joint operation.

(iv)	 Transactions eliminated on consolidation
Intra-Group balances and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-Group transactions, are eliminated in preparing 
these consolidated financial statements. Unrealised gains arising from transactions with equity accounted investees are eliminated 
against the investment to the extent of the Group’s interest in the investee. Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as 
unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

(b)	 Foreign currency and operations
(i)	 Foreign currency transactions
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of Group entities at exchange rates at the 
dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are retranslated to the 
functional currency at the exchange rate at that date. The foreign currency gain or loss on monetary items is the difference between 
amortised cost in the functional currency at the beginning of the period, adjusted for effective interest and payments during the period, 
and the amortised cost in foreign currency translated at the exchange rate at the end of the reporting period.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at fair value are retranslated to the functional 
currency at the exchange rate at the date that the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items in a foreign currency that are 
measured in terms of historical cost are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Foreign currency differences 
arising in retranslation are recognised in profit or loss, except for differences arising on the retranslation of available-for-sale equity 
instruments which are recognised in other comprehensive income.

(ii)	 Foreign operations
The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on acquisition, are translated 
to USD at exchange rates at the reporting date. The income and expenses of foreign operations are translated to USD at exchange 
rates at the dates of the transactions.

(c)	 Financial instruments
(i)	 Non-derivative financial assets
The Group initially recognises loans and receivables and deposits on the date that they are originated. All other financial assets 
(including assets designated at fair value through profit or loss) are recognised initially on the trade date at which the Group becomes 
a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or it transfers the 
rights to receive the contractual cash flows on the financial asset in a transaction in which substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership of the financial asset are transferred. Any interest in transferred financial assets that is created or retained by the Group 
is recognised as a separate asset or liability.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position when, and only when, 
the Group has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the 
liability simultaneously.

The Group classifies non-derivative financial assets into the following categories: financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, 
held-to-maturity financial assets, loans and receivables and available-for-sale financial assets.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
A financial asset is classified at fair value through profit or loss if it is classified as held for trading or is designated as such upon initial 
recognition. Financial assets are designated at fair value through profit or loss if the Group manages such investments and makes 
purchase and sale decisions based on their fair value in accordance with the Group’s documented risk management or investment 
strategy. Upon initial recognition attributable transaction costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred. Financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss are measured at fair value, and changes therein are recognised in profit or loss. 

Held-to-maturity financial assets
If the Group has the positive intent and ability to hold debt securities to maturity, then such financial assets are classified to 
held‑to‑maturity. Held-to-maturity financial assets are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. 
Subsequent to initial recognition held-to-maturity financial assets are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, 
less any impairment losses. Any sale or reclassification of a more than insignificant amount of held-to-maturity investments not close 
to their maturity would result in the reclassification of all held-to-maturity investments as available-for-sale, and prevent the Group 
from classifying investment securities as held-to-maturity for the current and the following two financial years.
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Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are a category of financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. 
Such assets are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition loans 
and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses.

Loans and receivables comprise the following classes of assets: trade and other receivables as presented in note 11, loans receivable 
as presented in note 9, loans to Group companies as presented in note 12 and cash and cash equivalents as presented in note 13.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances, call deposits and highly liquid investments with maturities at initial recognition 
of three months or less.

Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are designated as available-for-sale or are not classified  
in any of the above categories of financial assets. Such assets are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable 
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, they are measured at fair value and changes therein, other than impairment 
losses, and foreign currency differences on available-for-sale debt instruments, are recognised in other comprehensive income and 
presented within equity in the fair value reserve. When an investment is derecognised or impaired, the cumulative gain or loss in 
equity is reclassified to profit or loss. Unquoted equity instruments whose fair value cannot reliably be measured are carried at cost.

(ii)	 Non-derivative financial liabilities
The Group initially recognises debt securities issued and subordinated liabilities on the date that they are originated. All other financial 
liabilities (including liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss) are recognised initially on the trade date at which the Group 
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

The Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled or expire.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position when, and only when, 
the Group has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the 
liability simultaneously.

The Group classifies non-derivative financial liabilities in the other financial liabilities category. Such financial liabilities are recognised 
initially at fair value less any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, these financial liabilities are 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Other financial liabilities comprise trade and other payables as presented in note 17 and finance lease liability as presented in note 15.

Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management are included as a component 
of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the statement of cash flows.

(iii)	 Share capital
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares and share options are 
recognised as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.

Repurchase, disposal and reissue of share capital (treasury shares)
When share capital recognised as equity is repurchased, the amount of the consideration paid, which includes directly attributable 
costs, net of any tax effects, is recognised as a deduction from equity. Repurchased shares are immediately cancelled and the total 
number of shares reduced by the purchase.

(iv)	 Derivative financial instruments
Embedded derivatives are separated from the host contract and accounted for separately if the economic characteristics and risks of 
the host contract and the embedded derivative are not closely related, a separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded 
derivative would meet the definition of a derivative, and the combined instrument is not measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Derivatives are recognised initially at fair value; attributable transaction costs are recognised in profit or loss when incurred. Subsequent 
to initial recognition, derivatives are measured at fair value, and changes therein are recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated and Parent Company  
Financial Statements continued

3	 Significant accounting policies continued
(d)	 Investment properties
Investment properties are those that are held either to earn rental income or for capital appreciation or for both, but not for sale in the 
ordinary course of business, use in production or supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes.

Investment properties principally comprise freehold land, leasehold land and investment properties held for future redevelopment. 
Leasehold of land held under operating lease is classified and accounted for as investment property when it meets the definition of 
investment property.

(i)	 Initial measurement and recognition
Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including related acquisition costs. Cost includes expenditure that is directly 
attributable to the acquisition of the investment property. The cost of self-constructed investment property includes the cost of 
materials and direct labour, any other costs directly attributable to bringing the investment property to a working condition for 
its intended use and capitalised borrowing costs.

If the Group uses part of the property for its own use, and part to earn rentals or for capital appreciation, and the portions can be sold 
or leased out separately, they are accounted for separately. Therefore the part that is rented out is investment property. If the portions 
cannot be sold or leased out separately, the property is investment property only if the company-occupied portion is insignificant.

(ii)	 Subsequent measurement
Subsequent to initial recognition investment properties are stated at fair value. Any gain or loss arising from a change in fair value 
is included in profit or loss in the period in which it arises.

When the Group begins to redevelop an existing investment property for continued future use as investment property, the property 
remains an investment property, which is measured at fair value, and is not reclassified to property and equipment during  
the redevelopment.

When the use of a property changes such that it is reclassified as property and equipment or inventory, its fair value at the date 
of reclassification becomes its cost for subsequent accounting.

Investment properties are derecognised on disposal or when they are permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic 
benefits are expected from its disposal. The gain or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between the net disposal 
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised as gain or loss in profit or loss.

It is the Group’s policy that an external, independent valuation company, having an appropriate recognised professional qualification 
and recent experience in the location and category of property being appraised, values the portfolio every six months. The fair value 
is the amount for which a property could be exchanged on the date of valuation between a willing buyer and a willing seller in an 
arm’s length transaction. The valuation is prepared in accordance with the practice standards contained in the Appraisal and 
Valuations Standards published by the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors (RICS) or in accordance with International 
Valuation Standards published by the International Valuations Standards Committee.

The Directors believe that there is no transparent, active market in Ukraine for land because there are few transactions and each 
transaction tends to be unique and subject to significant negotiations. Therefore, the Directors have chosen to use a valuation model 
to estimate fair value.

After discussion with the independent appraiser, and considering the types of investment properties owned by the Group and their 
intended development, the Directors chose to estimate the fair value of land using the “residual land value” income approach valuation 
model. Under this method, the fair value of the freehold and leasehold interest in land equals the residual value of land under 
development (assuming that the developer will meet the terms set for development).

The residual value of land is determined based on the value for which such land could be sold in the market, which is estimated 
by appraisers to be the fair value of the completed project less cost to complete and an appropriate developer’s profit. The residual 
value of land is equal to future cash flows generated by the developed property within the forecasting period plus terminal value 
of the property less development costs and developer’s interest.

(iii)	 Reclassification to owner-occupied property or inventory
When the use of a property changes from investment property carried at fair value to owner-occupied property or inventory, the 
property’s deemed cost for subsequent accounting in accordance with IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment or IAS 2 Inventories 
is its fair value at the date of change in use. Any gain or loss arising on revaluation as at the date of transfer is recognised in profit or loss.
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(e)	 Property and equipment
(i)	 Recognition and measurement
Items of property and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-constructed assets includes 
the cost of materials and direct labour, any other costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to a working condition for its intended 
use, and the costs of dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which they are located. Purchased software that 
is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as part of that equipment.

When parts of an item of property and equipment have different useful lives and are considered major components, they are 
accounted for as separate items of property and equipment.

The gain or loss on disposal of an item of property and equipment is determined by comparing the proceeds from disposal with 
the carrying amount of property and equipment, and is recognised net within other income/other expenses in profit or loss.

(ii)	 Reclassification to investment property
When the use of a property changes from owner-occupied to investment property, the property is remeasured to fair value and 
reclassified as investment property. Any gain arising on remeasurement is recognised in profit or loss to the extent that it reverses a 
previous impairment loss on the specific property, with any remaining gain recognised in other comprehensive income and presented 
in the revaluation reserve in equity. Any loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

(iii)	 Subsequent costs
The cost of replacing a component of an item of property and equipment is recognised in the carrying amount of the item if it is 
probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to the Group, and its cost can be measured reliably. 
The carrying amount of the replaced component is derecognised. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of property and equipment 
are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

(iv)	 Depreciation
Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each component of an item of 
property and equipment. Leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and their useful lives unless it is reasonably 
certain that the Group will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term. Land is not depreciated.

The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative periods are as follows:

•	 Vehicles and equipment			   5-7 years
•	 Fixture and fittings			   3 years

(f)	 Intangible assets
(i)	 Goodwill
Goodwill that arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries is included in intangible assets.

Initial measurement and recognition
The Group measures goodwill at the acquisition date as:

•	 the fair value of the consideration transferred, plus 
•	 the recognised amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree, plus, if the business combination is achieved in stages, 

the fair value of the existing equity interest in the acquiree, less
•	 the net recognised amount (generally fair value) of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed.

When the excess is negative, a bargain purchase gain is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The consideration transferred does not include amounts related to the settlement of pre-existing relationships. Such amounts are 
generally recognised in profit or loss.

Transaction costs, other than those associated with the issue of debt or equity securities, that the Group incurs in connection with 
a business combination are expensed as incurred.

Subsequent measurement
Goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses. In respect of equity accounted investees, the carrying amount 
of goodwill is included in the carrying amount of the investment, and an impairment loss on such an investment is not allocated 
to any asset, including goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount of the equity accounted investee.
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Notes to the Consolidated and Parent Company  
Financial Statements continued

3	 Significant accounting policies continued
(f)	 Intangible assets continued
(ii)	 Other intangible assets
Other intangible assets that are acquired by the Group, which have finite useful lives, are measured at cost less accumulated 
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

(iii)	 Subsequent expenditure
Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in the specific asset to which it relates. 
All other expenditure, including expenditure on internally generated goodwill and brands, is recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

(g)	 Leased assets
Leases in terms of which the Group assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as finance leases. 
Upon initial recognition the leased asset is measured at an amount equal to the lower of its fair value and the present value of the 
minimum lease payments. Subsequent to initial recognition, the asset is accounted for in accordance with the accounting policy 
applicable to that asset.

Other leases are operating leases and the leased assets are not recognised in the statement of financial position.

(h)	 Inventories
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of inventories is based on the first-in first-out principle, 
and includes expenditure incurred in acquiring the inventories and bringing them to their existing location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of completion and  
selling expenses.

(i)	 Impairment
(i)	 Non-derivative financial assets
A financial asset not carried at fair value through profit or loss is assessed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any 
objective evidence that it is impaired. A financial asset is impaired if objective evidence indicates that a loss event has occurred after 
the initial recognition of the asset, and that the loss event had a negative effect on the estimated future cash flows of that asset that 
can be estimated reliably.

Objective evidence that financial assets (including equity securities) are impaired can include default or delinquency by a debtor, 
restructuring of an amount due to the Group on terms that the Group would not consider otherwise, indications that a debtor or 
issuer will enter bankruptcy, adverse changes in the payment status of borrowers or issuers in the Group, economic conditions 
that correlate with defaults or the disappearance of an active market for a security. In addition, for an investment in an equity 
security, a significant or prolonged decline in its fair value below its cost is objective evidence of impairment.

Loans and receivables and held-to-maturity investment securities
The Group considers evidence of impairment for loans and receivables and held-to-maturity investment securities at both a specific 
asset and collective level. All individually significant loans and receivables and held-to-maturity investment securities are assessed 
for specific impairment. All individually significant loans and receivables and held-to-maturity investment securities found not to be 
specifically impaired are then collectively assessed for any impairment that has been incurred but not yet identified. Loans and 
receivables and held-to-maturity investment securities that are not individually significant are collectively assessed for impairment 
by grouping together loans and receivables and held-to-maturity investment securities with similar risk characteristics.

In assessing collective impairment the Group uses historical trends of the probability of default, timing of recoveries and the amount 
of loss incurred, adjusted for the Directors’ judgment as to whether current economic and credit conditions are such that the actual 
losses are likely to be greater or less than suggested by historical trends.

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is calculated as the difference between its carrying 
amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate. Losses 
are recognised in profit or loss and reflected in an allowance account against loans and receivables or held-to-maturity investment 
securities. Interest on the impaired asset continues to be recognised. When a subsequent event causes the amount of impairment 
loss to decrease, the decrease in impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss.

Available-for-sale financial assets
Impairment losses on available-for-sale financial assets are recognised by reclassifying the losses accumulated in the fair value 
reserve in equity, to profit or loss. The cumulative loss that is reclassified from equity to profit or loss is the difference between the 
acquisition cost, net of any principal repayment and amortisation, and the current fair value, less any impairment loss previously 
recognised in profit or loss. Changes in impairment provisions attributable to application of the effective interest method are reflected 
as a component of interest income. If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of an impaired available-for-sale debt security increases 
and the increase can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in profit or loss, then the 
impairment loss is reversed, with the amount of the reversal recognised in profit or loss. However, any subsequent recovery in the 
fair value of an impaired available-for-sale equity security is recognised in other comprehensive income.
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(ii)	 Non-financial assets
The carrying amounts of non-financial assets, other than inventories and deferred tax assets, are reviewed at each reporting date to 
determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. 
For goodwill and intangible assets that have indefinite lives or that are not yet available for use, the recoverable amount is estimated each 
year on the reporting date.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount. 
A cash‑generating unit is the smallest identifiable asset group that generates cash flows that largely are independent from other assets 
and groups. Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-generating units are 
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the units and then to reduce the carrying amount of the other 
assets in the unit (group of units) on a pro rata basis.

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. In assessing 
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. In respect of other assets, impairment losses recognised in prior periods are 
assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if 
there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent 
that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or 
amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

(j)	 Share-based payments
The fair value at the date of grant of options granted to Directors and employees is recognised as an employee expense, with a 
corresponding increase in equity, over the period that the Directors and employees become unconditionally entitled to the options. 
The amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number of share options that vest.

For equity settled share-based payment transactions other than transactions with Directors and employees the Group measures the 
goods or services received at their fair value, unless that fair value cannot be estimated reliably. If this is the case the Group measures 
their fair values and the corresponding increase in equity, indirectly, by reference to the fair value of equity instruments granted.

(k)	 Provisions
A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation that can be estimated 
reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by 
discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and 
the risks specific to the liability. The unwinding of the discount is recognised as finance cost.

(l)	 Rental income from investment properties
Rental income from investment properties is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

(m)	 Lease payments
Payments made under operating leases are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Lease incentives 
received are recognised as an integral part of the total lease expense over the term of the lease.

Minimum lease payments made under finance leases are apportioned between the finance cost and the reduction of the outstanding 
liability. The finance cost is allocated to each period during the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the 
remaining balance of the liability.

Contingent lease payments are accounted for by revising the minimum lease payments over the remaining term of the lease when the 
contingency no longer exists and the lease adjustment is known.

Determining whether an arrangement contains a lease
At inception of an arrangement, the Group determines whether such an arrangement is or contains a lease. This will be the case if the 
fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset and the arrangement contains a right to use the asset.

At inception or upon reassessment of the arrangement, the Group separates payments and other consideration required by such an 
arrangement into those for the lease and those for other elements on the basis of their relative fair values. If the Group concludes for a 
finance lease that it is impracticable to separate the payments reliably, then an asset and a liability are recognised at an amount equal 
to the fair value of the underlying asset. Subsequently the liability is reduced as payments are made and an imputed finance charge 
on the liability is recognised using the Group’s incremental borrowing rate.
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Notes to the Consolidated and Parent Company  
Financial Statements continued

3	 Significant accounting policies continued
(n)	 Finance income and costs
Finance income comprises interest income on funds invested, dividend income and currency exchange gains. Interest income 
is recognised as it accrues in profit or loss, using the effective interest method. Dividend income is recognised on the date that 
the Group’s right to receive payment is established.

Finance costs comprise fair value losses on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, impairment loss on financial assets and 
currency exchange losses.

Foreign currency gains and losses are reported on a net basis as either finance income or finance cost depending on whether foreign 
currency movements are in a net gain or net loss position.

(o)	 Income tax expense
Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Current tax and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss except to the 
extent that it relates to a business combination, or items recognised directly in equity or in other comprehensive income.

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively 
enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial 
reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognised for:

•	 temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination and that 
affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss;

•	 temporary differences related to investments in subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities to the extent that it is probable that they 
will not reverse in the foreseeable future; and

•	 taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to the temporary differences when they reverse, based on 
the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and liabilities, and they 
relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to settle 
current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realised simultaneously.

In accordance with the tax legislation of Ukraine, tax losses and current tax assets of a company in the Group may not be set off 
against taxable profits and current tax liabilities of other Group companies. In addition, the tax base is determined separately for 
each of the Group’s main activities and, therefore, tax losses and taxable profits related to different activities cannot be offset.

A deferred tax asset is recognised for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary differences, to the extent that it 
is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each 
reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

(p)	 Earnings per share
The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) data for its ordinary shares. Basic EPS is calculated by dividing 
the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Parent Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares 
outstanding during the year, adjusted for own shares held. Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting the profit or loss attributable to 
ordinary shareholders and the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding, adjusted for own shares held, for the 
effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares, which comprise warrants and share options.

(q)	 Segment reporting
An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues and incur 
expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the Group’s other components.

The Directors determined that the sole segment in which the Group operates is property development. For operational purposes 
the Board analyses the Group’s activity on the basis of individual projects and they are described in detail in the Annual Report. 
Budgeting and comparison of actual versus budgeted results is also done on the basis of individual projects.
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(r)	 New standards and interpretations not yet adopted
A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are not yet effective as at 31 December 2012, and have 
not been applied in preparing these Consolidated and Parent Company financial statements. Of these standards and interpretations, 
potentially the following will have an impact on the Group’s operations. The Group plans to adopt these standards and interpretations 
when they become effective.

•	 IAS 28 (2011) Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures combines the requirements in IAS 28 (2008) and IAS 31 that were 
carried forward but not incorporated into IFRS 11 and IFRS 12. The amended standard will become effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2013 with retrospective application required. Early adoption of IAS 28 (2011) is permitted provided 
the entity also early-adopts IFRS 10, IFRS 11, IFRS 12 and IAS 27 (2011). The Group has not yet analysed the likely impact of the 
new standard on its financial position or performance. The Group does not intend to adopt this standard early.

•	 Amendments to IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures – Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities contain new 
disclosure requirements for financial assets and liabilities that are offset in the statement of financial position or subject to master 
netting arrangements or similar agreements. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013, 
and are to be applied retrospectively. The amendment is not expected to have significant effect on the Consolidated and Parent 
Company financial statements.

•	 IFRS 9 Financial Instruments will be effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2015. The new standard is to be 
issued in phases and is intended ultimately to replace International Financial Reporting Standard IAS 39 Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement. The first phase of IFRS 9 was issued in November 2009 and relates to the classification and 
measurement of financial assets. The second phase regarding classification and measurement of financial liabilities was published 
in October 2010. The remaining parts of the standard are expected to be issued during 2013. The Group recognises that the new 
standard introduces many changes to the accounting requirements for financial instruments and is likely to have a significant impact 
on the Consolidated and Parent Company financial statements. The impact of these changes will be analysed during the course of 
the project as further phases of the standard are issued. The Group does not intend to adopt this standard early.

•	 IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements will be effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013. The new 
standard supersedes IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements and SIC-12 Consolidation – Special Purpose 
Entities. IFRS 10 introduces a single control model which includes entities that are currently within the scope of SIC-12 
Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities. Under the new three-step control model, an investor controls an investee when it is 
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with that investee, has the ability to affect those returns through its 
power over that investee and there is a link between power and returns. Consolidation procedures are carried forward from IAS 27 
(2008). When the adoption of IFRS 10 does not result in a change in the previous consolidation or non-consolidation of an investee, 
no adjustments to accounting are required on initial application. When the adoption results in a change in the consolidation or 
non-consolidation of an investee, the new standard may be adopted with either full retrospective application from date that control 
was obtained or lost or, if not practicable, with limited retrospective application from the beginning of the earliest period for which 
the application is practicable, which may be the current period. Early adoption of IFRS 10 is permitted provided an entity also 
early-adopts IFRS 11, IFRS 12, IAS 27 (2011) and IAS 28 (2011). The Group has not yet analysed the likely impact of the new 
standard on its financial position or performance.

•	 IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements will be effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013 with retrospective application 
required. The new standard supersedes IAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures. The main change introduced by IFRS 11 is that all joint 
arrangements are classified either as joint operations, which are consolidated on a proportionate basis, or as joint ventures, for 
which the equity method is applied. The type of arrangement is determined based on the rights and obligations of the parties to 
the arrangement arising from joint arrangement’s structure, legal form, contractual arrangement and other facts and circumstances. 
When the adoption of IFRS 11 results in a change in the accounting model, the change is accounted for retrospectively from the 
beginning of the earliest period presented. Under the new standard all parties to a joint arrangement are within the scope of IFRS 11 
even if all parties do not participate in the joint control. Early adoption of IFRS 11 is permitted provided the entity also early-adopts 
IFRS 10, IFRS 12, IAS 27 (2011) and IAS 28 (2011). The new standard is not expected to have a significant effect on the Consolidated 
and Parent Company financial statements. The Group does not intend to adopt this standard early.

•	 IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities will be effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013. The 
new standard contains disclosure requirements for entities that have interests in subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates and 
unconsolidated structured entities. Interests are widely defined as contractual and non-contractual involvement that exposes an 
entity to variability of returns from the performance of the other entity. The expanded and new disclosure requirements aim to provide 
information to enable the users to evaluate the nature of risks associated with an entity’s interests in other entities and the effects 
of those interests on the entity’s financial position, financial performance and cash flows. Entities may present some of the IFRS 12 
disclosures early without a need to early-adopt the other new and amended standards. However, if IFRS 12 is early-adopted in full, 
then IFRS 10, IFRS 11, IAS 27 (2011) and IAS 28 (2011) must also be early-adopted. The new standard is expected to result in 
additional disclosures in the Consolidated and Parent Company financial statements. The Group does not intend to adopt this 
standard early.

•	 IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement will be effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013. The new standard 
replaces the fair value measurement guidance contained in individual IFRSs with a single source of fair value measurement 
guidance. It provides a revised definition of fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value and sets out disclosure 
requirements for fair value measurements. IFRS 13 does not introduce new requirements to measure assets or liabilities at fair 
value, nor does it eliminate the practicability exceptions to fair value measurement that currently exist in certain standards. The 
standard is applied prospectively with early adoption permitted. Comparative disclosure information is not required for periods 
before the date of initial application. The Group has not yet analysed the likely impact the new disclosures will have on the 
Consolidated and Parent Company financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated and Parent Company  
Financial Statements continued

3	 Significant accounting policies continued
(r)	 New standards and interpretations not yet adopted continued
•	 Amendment to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements: Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income. The amendment 

requires that an entity present separately items of other comprehensive income that may be reclassified to profit or loss in the future from 
those that will never be reclassified to profit or loss. Additionally, the amendment changes the title of the statement of comprehensive 
income to statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. However, the use of other titles is permitted. The amendment 
shall be applied retrospectively from 1 July 2012 and early adoption is permitted. The amendment is not expected to have significant 
effect on the Consolidated and Parent Company financial statements.

•	 Amendments to IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation – Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities do not introduce new 
rules for offsetting financial assets and liabilities; rather they clarify the offsetting criteria to address inconsistencies in their application. 
The Amendments specify that an entity currently has a legally enforceable right to set-off if that right is not contingent on a future 
event; and enforceable both in the normal course of business and in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the entity and 
all counterparties. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014, and are to be applied 
retrospectively. The amendment is not expected to have significant effect on the Consolidated and Parent Company financial statements.

Various improvements to IFRSs have been dealt with on a standard-by-standard basis. All amendments which result in accounting 
changes for presentation, recognition or measurement purposes will come into effect for annual periods beginning after 1 January 2013. 
The Group has not yet analysed the likely impact of the improvements on its financial position or performance.

4	 Disposal of subsidiaries
In April 2012 the Group sold Ukrainian Development Holding LTD for USD 3 thousand to Mr. Georgios Chr. Kyrou. The gain of 
USD 4 thousand as a result of this transaction was recognised in profit or loss.

The disposal of the subsidiary had the following effect on assets and liabilities on the date of disposal:

							       Recognised	
							       values on  
							       the date of 	
							       loss of control	
(in thousands of USD)							       over subsidiary

Current assets						       	
Cash and cash equivalents								        1
Current liabilities							     
Trade and other payables								        (2)
Net identifiable assets and liabilities								        (1)
Disposed Group’s share in the net identifiable assets and liabilities						      1
Selling price								        3
Gain on disposal of subsidiary								        4
Consideration received								        3
Cash disposed								        (1)
Net cash inflow								        2

In April 2012 the Group sold Ukrainian Properties LTD for USD 2 thousand to Mittelmeer Nominees Limited. The gain of USD  
4 thousand as a result of this transaction was recognised in profit or loss.

The disposal of the subsidiary had the following effect on assets and liabilities on the date of disposal:

							       Recognised	
							       values on  
							       the date of 	
							       loss of control	
(in thousands of USD)							       over subsidiary

Current liabilities						       	
Trade and other payables								        (2)
Net identifiable assets and liabilities								        (2)
Disposed Group’s share in the net identifiable assets and liabilities						      2
Selling price								        2
Gain on disposal of subsidiary								        4
Consideration received								        2
Cash disposed								        –
Net cash inflow								        2
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5	 Investment properties and property under construction
Movements in investment properties and property under construction for the years ended 31 December are as follows:

						      Freehold	 Leasehold
(in thousands of USD)						      land	 land	 Total

At 1 January 2011						      36,989 	 42,873 	 79,862
Construction						      6,673 	 1,763	 8,436
Disposal of investment property						      (1,968)	 –	 (1,968)
Fair value loss on revaluation						      (4,983)	 (4,308)	 (9,291)
At 31 December 2011						      36,711	 40,328	 77,039
Transfer to trading properties						      –	  (33,658) 	 (33,658)
Changes in accounting estimates of finance lease liability					     –	 (2,310)	 (2,310)
Land acquisition						      1,441	 –	 1,441
Construction						      2,037 	 5	 2,042
Disposal of investment property						      (3,423)	 –	 (3,423)
Fair value loss on revaluation						      (474)	 (160)	 (634)
At 31 December 2012						      36,292	 4,205	 40,497
				  
The carrying values for investment properties and property under construction as at 31 December are as follows:

(in thousands of USD)						      	 2012	 2011

Obolon						       	 –	 33,658
Green Hills							       19,000	 19,300
Riviera Villas							       14,592	 14,711
Kremenchuk							       4,205	 6,670
Rivne						      	 2,700	 2,700
							       40,497	 77,039

Property is classified in accordance with the intention of the Directors for its future use. When construction starts, freehold land, 
leasehold land and investment properties held for future redevelopment are reclassified to investment properties under development  
(IAS 40) or inventories (IAS 2) in accordance with the intended future use.

The Group’s intention with regard to the Obolon project is the construction of a multi-storey business class residential complex with office 
and retail premises that will be sold upon completion of construction. Having received the construction permit and obtained the permit of 
KyivEnergo for removal of the power substation from the site, the Group has demolished the existing service centre building and started 
preliminary ground works. According to the Group’s accounting policy investment property is transferred to trading properties under 
construction when the Group ceases to receive rental income from the properties in question and when construction has started on the 
site. From the date of acquisition until 31 December 2011 the Obolon project was accounted for as an investment property. Upon the 
start of the construction work in 2012 the property under the project has been reclassified to trading properties under construction  
(see note 10).

Due to changes in the finance lease conditions the Group recognised a decrease in finance lease liabilities of subsidiary New Region 
LLC, which holds the Kremenchuk project. The changes in finance lease conditions are as follows:

•	 reduction of rental rate from 10% to 3% of the normative value of the land plot; and
•	 increase of correction coefficient from 0.65 to 0.85, applied to “normative valuation” (“normative valuation” – is a valuation of 

different types of land according to the methodology and rates set up by government regulations) in accordance with the decision 
of the Kremenchuk City Council of 25 December 2012.

Mountcrest Limited (Mountcrest – a Group subsidiary) and Intendancy Limited (Intendancy – third party) entered into a Project 
Development Agreement on 12 December 2007. It was agreed to undertake and bear all design, engineering and construction costs 
as well as the costs incurred in connection with the maintenance and development of the land plots and facilities of the Riviera Villas 
project (one of the Group’s projects) in the following proportion:

•	 Mountcrest is to bear or reimburse 58.21% of costs incurred in the process of land plot development and Intendancy 41.79%; and
•	 Mountcrest is to bear or reimburse 59.56% of costs incurred in the process of real estate construction and Intendancy 40.44%.

B
u

sin
ess

R
eview

F
in

an
cial

S
tatem

en
ts

G
o

vern
an

ce



Dragon – Ukrainian Properties & Development plc
Annual Report & Accounts 2012

48

5	 Investment properties and property under construction continued
Irrespective of legal titles that may be attached to the land plots of each of the parties, all benefit from sale or usage of investment 
property will be split in the following proportion: Mountcrest is entitled to 59.56% of all benefits and Intendancy is entitled to 40.44%  
of all benefits.

On 20 February 2012 an amendment to the Project Development Agreement was signed. In accordance with this amendent 
Mountcrest transferred all its rights and obligations under the Project Development Agreement to Stenfield Finance Limited (Stenfield) 
(a Group subsidiary).

On 20 September 2012 Stenfield and Intendancy (together referred to as the “Parties”) signed an Amended and Restated Project 
Development Agreement and agreed to acquire title or to hold under control additional land plots with a total area of 1.7244 hectares 
(ha) (the “Additional Land Plots”) for residential real estate construction. The Parties will bear the acquisition costs of the Additional 
Land Plots in the same proportions they bear costs incurred in the process of real estate construction. The purchase price of USD 
2,346 thousand will be paid in full by Intendancy and Stenfield will reimburse the amount equivalent to its share in the project as 
stipulated above. This reimbursement will be effected by Stenfield making contributions from its share of future sales proceeds 
less the budgeted amount of the capital expenditures for the development of the project.

The Directors engaged registered independent appraiser CB Richard Ellis LLC, having a recognised professional qualification and 
recent experience in the location and categories of the projects being valued, to assist with the estimation of fair value of investment 
properties and property under construction.

The estimation of fair value was made using a net present value calculation based on certain assumptions, the most important  
of which as at 31 December 2012 are as follows:

•	 monthly rental rates – which were based on current rental rates ranging from USD 9 to USD 30 per sqm; 
•	 development costs based on current construction prices;
•	 discount rate of 10%;
•	 developer’s profit ranging from 20% to 28%; and
•	 all relevant licenses and permits, to the extent not yet received, will be obtained, in accordance with the timetables as set out 

in the investment project plans.

As at 31 December 2011 the respective assumptions were as follows:

•	 monthly rental rates – which were based on current rental rates ranging from USD 9 to USD 48 per sqm;
•	 development costs based on current construction prices; 
•	 discount rate of 10%; 
•	 developer’s profit ranging from 20% to 30%; and
•	 all relevant licenses and permits, to the extent not yet received, will be obtained, in accordance with the timetables as set out  

in the investment project plans.

Sensitivity
If rental rates are 1% less than those used in the valuation model, the fair value of investment properties as at 31 December 2012 
would be USD 600 thousand lower (2011: USD 700 thousand). If rental rates are 1% higher, then the fair value of investment 
properties as at 31 December 2012 would be USD 700 thousand higher (2011: USD 600 thousand).

If development costs are 5% higher than those used in the valuation model, the fair value of investment properties as at 31 December 2012 
would be USD 3,920 thousand lower (2011: USD 7,036 thousand). If development costs are 5% less, then the fair value of investment 
properties as at 31 December 2012 would be USD 3,920 thousand higher (2011: USD 6,876 thousand).

If the discount rate applied is 1% higher than that used in the valuation model, the fair value of investment properties as at 
31 December 2012 would be USD 1,240 thousand lower (2011: USD 2,338 thousand). If the discount rate is 1% less, then the 
fair value of investment properties as at 31 December 2012 would be USD 1,240 thousand higher (2011: USD 2,379 thousand).
 

Notes to the Consolidated and Parent Company  
Financial Statements continued



Dragon – Ukrainian Properties & Development plc
Annual Report & Accounts 2012

49

6	 Prepayments for land
During 2012 the Group made prepayments for land acquisition totalling USD 317 thousand (land bank project). As a result of this 
transaction the gross prepayments for land before impairment losses increased from USD 124,844 thousand as at 31 December 2011 
to USD 125,161 thousand as at 31 December 2012.

The investment in land bank projects has been historically reflected at cost less impairment. No impairment of prepayments for land 
was recognised before 2011. Land plots for the land bank project with a total area of 483.7 ha are currently registered for agricultural 
use, and the rezoning process to change the purpose of the land plots to construction use was in progress as at 31 December 2012 
and 2011. Land plots with a total area of 19.9 ha had been rezoned for construction use by the end of 2012. The Board determined 
the fair value of the land bank with the help of independent appraiser (CB Richard Ellis). The fair value of the land bank was determined 
using agricultural and residential property comparatives according to actual land plot zoning and discounting for the time period likely  
to be required to sell the land plots. Based on the fair value of land as assessed by the appraiser, the Group recognised an impairment 
loss on prepayments for land of USD 10,217 thousand for the year ended 31 December 2012 (2011: USD 57,744 thousand).

In December 2008 the Group entered into the following pledge agreements to secure prepayments for land. During 2009-2011 
several amendments to the agreements were signed to increase the assigned value of the collateral in conformity with prepayments 
made. The main conditions of the agreements are as follows:

			   Gross	 Assigned
			   amount of	 value 
(in thousands of USD)			   prepayment	 of the 
Date of signing	 Pledgor	 Collateral	 for land	 collateral

24 December 2008	 K Zatyshna Domivka LLC, Ukraine	 The corporate rights of Pledgor in Ukrainian  
		  subsidiaries that own land amounting to  
		  82.5 hectares located in the Kyiv region.	 15,935	 15,935
25 December 2008	 Land Investments LLC, Ukraine	 The corporate rights of Pledgor in Ukrainian  
		  subsidiaries that own land amounting to  
		  272.5 hectares located in the Kyiv region.	 52,640	 52,640
25 December 2008	 Naukovo-doslidne innovatsiyne	 The corporate rights of Pledgor in Ukrainian  
	 gospodarstvo LLC, Ukraine 	 subsidiaries that own land amounting to  
		  148.6 hectares located in the Kyiv region.	 56,586	 56,269
							       125,161	 124,844
				  
This table summarises the amount of prepayment intended to be secured by collateral rather than the fair value of the collateral itself. 
The fair value (or market value) of the land plots owned by the above entities is shown below.

Movements in prepayments for land for the years ended 31 December are as follows:

							       	
(in thousands of USD)							       	Prepayments 	
								        for land

At 1 January 2011							       124,094
Prepayment made								        750
Impairment loss								        (57,744)
At 31 December 2011								        67,100
Prepayment made								        317
Impairment loss								        (10,217)
At 31 December 2012							       57,200
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7	 Investments in associates
The Group has the following investments in associates as at 31 December 2012:

	 Ownership/voting

Name						      Country	 2012	 2011

Henryland Group Ltd.					     British Virgin Islands	 38.00%	 38.00%
Hindale Executive Investments Limited						      Cyprus	 18.77%	 18.77%
Arricano Real Estate plc						      Cyprus	 16.67%	 16.67%

The values of Group’s shares in the associates as at 31 December are as follows:

					     	 Parent	 	 Parent
				    	Consolidated	 Company	 Consolidated	 Company
(in thousands of USD)				    	 2012	 2012	 2011	 2011

Henryland Group Ltd					     11,086	 11,083 	 12,837	 12,837 
Hindale Executive Investments Limited					     –	 –	 1,624	 –
Arricano Real Estate plc					     32,716	 30,006	 29,402	 29,402
					     43,802	 41,089	 43,863	 42,239

The following is summarised financial information for the associates, not adjusted for the percentage ownership held by the Group:

					     Total	 Total		  Profit/
(in thousands of USD)				    Ownership	 assets	 liabilities	 Revenues	 (loss)

2012					   
Henryland Group Ltd.				    38.00%	 38,376	 9,147	 4,278	 686
Hindale Executive Investments Limited				    18.77%	 9,805	 1,687	 –	 (536)
Arricano Real Estate plc				    16.67%	 250,083	 115,515	 16,421	 19,847
					     298,264	 126,349	 20,699	 19,997
					   
2011					   
Henryland Group Ltd.				    38.00%	 40,392	 6,549	 3,877	 3,184
Hindale Executive Investments Limited				    18.77%	 10,342	 1,688	 –	 (8,404)
Arricano Real Estate plc				    16.67%	 210,786	 96,097	 16,356	 8,192
					     261,520	 104,334	 20,233	 2,972
					   
Significant influence
The Group has the right to appoint two (out of four) representatives to the Board of Directors of Hindale Ltd. Pursuant to the shareholders’ 
agreement, the management structure of Hindale Ltd provides that significant operating decisions require consent by all parties to the above 
shareholders’ agreement. 

The Parent Company has the right to appoint one (out of four) representatives to the Board of Directors of Arricano. Pursuant to the 
Shareholders’ Agreement SHA (see below), the management structure of Arricano provides that significant operating, investment and 
strategic decisions require consent by each member of the Board of Directors of Arricano appointed by the Parent Company and RRE.

Investments in Henryland Group Ltd
During 2012 the Parent Company recognised dividend income of USD 2,011 thousand from its investments in Henryland Group Ltd 
(2011: USD 569 thousand). Dividends of USD 873 thousand were received in cash during 2012 (2011: USD 569 thousand) and the 
remaining USD 1,138 thousand was recognised in other receivables as at 31 December 2012.

During 2012 the Parent Company recognised impairment of its investment in Henryland Group Ltd of USD 1,754 thousand 
(2011: recovery of impairment of USD 544 thousand).

Investments in Hindale Executive Investments Limited
In October 2009, due to the fact that certain conditions set out in the shareholders’ agreement between the Group and the partner were 
not met (in particular, certain permits were not procured and the land plot was not cleared of garages before October 2009), the Group 
decreased its stake in Hindale Executive Investments Limited (Hindale Ltd) from 50% + 1 share to 18.77% and as a result in Promtek LLC 
(Promtek), which is 100% owned by Hindale Ltd. Promtek’s sole purpose is to develop the Avenue project.

Notes to the Consolidated and Parent Company  
Financial Statements continued
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The share capital held by the Group of Hindale Ltd was decreased by 1,539 ordinary shares. In return, the Group received USD 5,000 
thousand and an option to repurchase the 1,539 ordinary shares of Hindale Ltd for USD 5,000 thousand in accordance with the 
shareholders’ agreement. The excess of the fair value of the shares over the purchase price was determined by the Group to be the 
fair value of the call option and was recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position. By the end of 2011 the fair value 
of the call option decreased to nil.

The lease agreement for the land plot on which Hindale Ltd is planning to construct the real estate expired on 2 July 2012. 
An application was made to the relevant authorities to extend the lease for the time needed to complete the project. However, 
Hindale Ltd may not be able to prolong the lease term. Taking this into account the Board decided to fully write off the Avenue project 
as at 31 December 2012 following the initial decision of the Board to apply this write-off in the financial statements for the period 
ended 30 June 2012. As a result, impairment of investments in Hindale Ltd of USD 1,624 thousand was recognised for the year 
ended 31 December 2012.

Investment in Arricano Real Estate plc
On 10 September 2010 the Parent Company entered into a Shareholders’ Agreement (SHA) with Expert Capital SA (currently – Retail 
Real Estate SA, RRE) and Arricano Trading Limited (currently – Arricano Real Estate, Arricano) and acquired a 35% interest in Arricano, 
through the issue of 1,077 new shares by Arricano for a consideration of USD 30,000 thousand payable by the Parent Company in cash. 
Arricano is a leading developer of upscale shopping centres in Ukraine, and the investment of USD 30,000 thousand was earmarked 
to fund further development of shopping centres and to repay certain existing Arricano debt. Arricano holds a 100% interest in four 
shopping centres across Ukraine and a shareholding of 50% minus one share in Assofit Holdings Limited (Assofit) a holding entity 
for the Sky Mall shopping centre in Kyiv (the Sky Mall project). In relation to the Sky Mall project, Arricano had entered into a call option 
agreement with Stockman Interhold SA (Stockman), whereby it could acquire the remaining shareholding of 50% plus one share at 
a pre-agreed valuation of USD 51,000-56,000 thousand, depending on the timing (the Sky Mall Call Option). The exercise period 
of the Sky Mall Call Option had been set from 15 November 2010 to 15 March 2011. Exercise period now expired.

Since Arricano effectively controlled the Sky Mall project though its 50% minus one share ownership and call option to acquire the 
remaining 50% plus one share, it consolidated the Sky Mall project in its consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ended 
31 December 2010.

Accordingly, Arricano had made a provision for the cost of the Sky Mall Call Option in the amount of USD 56,000 thousand (the 
maximum amount that had to be paid under the Sky Mall Call Option agreement) reduced by equity attributable to non-controlling 
interest of USD 20,780 thousand.

The identifiable net assets of Arricano were as follows at the date of acquisition:

								        Group’s
							       Total	 share of 
							       recognised	 recognised 
							       fair	 fair 
(in thousands of USD)							       values	 values

Identifiable net assets attributable to Arricano							       51,741	 18,109
Loans receivable planned to be assigned to Arricano							       113,879	 39,858
Maximum consideration for call option adjusted for equity attributable to non-controlling interest			   (35,220)	 (12,327)
Identifiable net assets							       130,400	 45,640
Gain on acquisition								        15,640
Consideration paid								        30,000
		
As at 31 December 2010 the net assets of Arricano included the following:

								        Total 
								        recognised  
								        carrying  
(in thousands of USD)								        values

Net assets attributable to Arricano								        108,253
Loans receivable planned to be assigned to Arricano								        113,879
Maximum consideration for call option adjusted for equity attributable to non-controlling interest				    (35,220)
Net assets								        186,912

A substantial part of Arricano’s net assets were represented by a pool of loans receivable in the amount of USD 134,594 thousand, 
including accrued interest of USD 30,627 thousand, that were extended by a financial vehicle controlled by Expert Capital SA to 
finance the real estate assets of the Sky Mall project. As a part of the SHA, these loans receivable together with accrued interest are 
to be assigned to Assofit for a nominal price of EUR 1 each, and as of the date of these financial statements, are in the process of 
being assigned to Assofit. These loans receivable were adjusted for repayment of loans provided by Swedbank to the Sky Mall 
project in the amount of USD 20,715 thousand.
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7	 Investments in associates continued
Reduction of shareholding in associate in 2010
RRE (the 65% shareholder in Arricano immediately after the Parent Company acquired its 35% stake) and the Parent Company also 
agreed to consider increasing Arricano’s capital by a further USD 60,000 thousand in order to finance the exercise of the Sky Mall 
Call Option, partial completion of the development of the second stage of the InterMall shopping centre (Simferopol) and repay certain 
indebtedness. During November 2010 USD 60,000 thousand was paid by Expert Capital SA in return for 3,385 newly issued ordinary 
shares in Arricano. Following the issue of new shares, the stake of the Parent Company decreased to 16.67%.

The net assets of Arricano were as follows at the date of dilution of the non-controlling interest in Arricano:

								        Recognised
(in thousands of USD)	 							       fair values

Identifiable net assets before share capital increase (dilution)						      128,282
Group’s share (35%) in the identifiable net assets								        44,899
Identifiable net assets after share capital increase (dilution)						      188,282
Group’s share (16.67%) in the identifiable net assets								        31,387
Loss on disposal of non-controlling interest								        13,512
	
Such dilution was in line with the original terms of the SHA.

Having obtained sufficient funds on 5 November 2010 Arricano issued a call option exercise notice in which Arricano applied 
for execution of the call option over 1,601 ordinary shares in Assofit with an exercise price of USD 51,397 thousand in accordance 
with the Sky Mall Call Option. However, Stockman claimed that Arricano had breached the shareholders’ agreement with themselves 
and the Sky Mall Call Option and on 8 November 2010 proceeded to terminate both agreements. Stockman initiated arbitration 
proceedings against Arricano, attempting to terminate Sky Mall Call Option and Arricano initiated arbitration proceedings against 
Stockman in relation to the validity of Stockman’s termination of the shareholders’ agreement between Arricano and Stockman.

Arbitration proceedings regarding the termination of the Sky Mall Call Option
On 9 November 2010 Stockman initiated arbitration proceedings against Arricano attempting to terminate Sky Mall Call Option 
in relation to the shares of Assofit. The case was considered by The London Court of International Arbitration (LCIA). In addition 
Stockman filed an ex-parte application to the competent Cyprus Court which issued an interim order preventing Arricano from 
exercising the afore-mentioned Call Option Agreement.

Arbitration proceedings regarding the termination of the shareholders agreement between Arricano and Stockman
On 21 December 2010 Arricano initiated arbitration proceedings against Stockman in relation to the validity of the termination of 
the shareholders’ agreement between Arricano and Stockman. The case was considered by The United Nations Commission on 
International Trade Law (UNCITRAL). In addition Arricano filed an ex-parte application to the competent Cyprus Court which issued 
an interim order preventing Stockman and Assofit from altering in any way Assofit’s shareholder structure or participation in Assofit’s 
Board of Directors.

Due to these arbitration proceedings between Arricano and Stockman as well as the Cyprus Court Interim Orders, the Sky Mall Call 
Option was not exercised as at 31 December 2010, because it was the subject of the aforementioned arbitration proceedings and/or 
interim orders of the Cyprus Court.

Both arbitration proceedings were ongoing as at the year ended 31 December 2010.

As at the year ended 31 December 2010, Arricano’s management believed that it was likely that the arbitrators would rule in favour of 
Arricano in respect of the above mentioned arbitration proceedings. Therefore, it believed that the Sky Mall Call Option was exercisable 
as at 31 December 2010 and was, therefore, taken into account in assessing whether Arricano had control over Assofit in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standard IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements. Assofit was, therefore, consolidated.

Loss of control in 2011
On 9 June 2011, the arbitration tribunal examining the validity of Stockman’s termination of the shareholders agreement between 
Arricano and Stockman issued a final award ruling that Stockman had validly terminated the shareholders agreement between 
Arricano and Stockman. This ruling was challenged by Arricano in the High Court of England and Wales. On 13 July 2012, judgment 
was given by the High Court of England and Wales, dismissing Arricano’s challenge with no further avenues of appeal being available.

In the other arbitration proceeding which was examining the exercise and termination of rights of the Sky Mall Call Option ruling was 
issued to the effect that the call option was not validly exercised by Arricano and it was properly terminated by Stockman. The award 
was not final as Arricano filed a challenge to the award with the High Court of England and Wales, on the basis of allegedly serious 
irregularities. On 16 July 2012, the case was remitted to the Arbitrator to issue a final decision. At the date that these consolidated 
financial statements were approved this arbitration remains pending.

Notes to the Consolidated and Parent Company  
Financial Statements continued



Dragon – Ukrainian Properties & Development plc
Annual Report & Accounts 2012

53

As a result of the above events Arricano was in practice not able to exercise the Sky Mall Call Option and as there were no other factors 
which would indicate that Arricano retained control over Assofit as at 9 June 2011, Arricano effectively lost control over Assofit and the 
subsidiary was deconsolidated at the date when loss of control occurred and was subsequently accounted for as Arricano’s associate.

Loss of significant influence in 2012
On 12 March 2012 Arricano filed application no. 26/2012 to the District Court of Larnaca in Cyprus to wind up its associate, Assofit, 
on grounds of oppression of minority shareholders. As a part of this application, on 30 March 2012 Arricano successfully applied for 
the appointment of a Receiver at the level of Assofit in order to protect Assofit’s assets until consideration of the wind up application 
is completed. The application remains ongoing as at the date these consolidated financial statements are authorised for issuance.

On 20 March 2012, the Annual General Meeting of shareholders of Assofit resolved not to re-appoint Arricano representatives as 
members of the Board of Directors of Assofit. No further change in the composition of the Board of Directors of Assofit took place up 
to the date these consolidated financial statements are authorised for issuance and no Arricano representative is currently appointed 
to the Board of Directors of Assofit.

As a result of the above events, Arricano is no longer able to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of Assofit and 
there are no other factors which would indicate that Arricano retains significant influence. Accordingly, as at 20 March 2012, Arricano had 
lost significant influence over Assofit and the associate was subsequently accounted for as an available-for-sale financial asset. Arricano’s 
management believe that the fair value of this available-for-sale financial asset as at the date of initial recognition approximates the 
carrying amount of the investment in Assofit as at 31 December 2011, which was recognised as an investment in associate as at that 
date. Assofit is not a publicly listed entity and consequently does not have published share price quotations, accordingly Arricano 
management believes that, subsequent to the date of initial recognition, the fair value of Assofit equity cannot be measured reliably, 
therefore this equity is measured at cost as at the date of initial recognition.

The Board of Arricano assessed impairment indicators for the investment in Assofit as at 31 December 2012. As a result of this 
analysis, it concluded that as at the reporting date there were no indicators of impairment of the investment in Assofit based on 
the following:

•	 Historically, Assofit generated positive cash flow and the major underlying asset of Assofit is the Sky Mall shopping centre that 
as at 31 December 2011 was measured at fair value, as determined by the independent qualified appraiser using the income 
approach. There were no unfavourable changes in rental rates for similar properties during the year ended 31 December 2012 
which could materially decrease the fair value of the shopping centre. Also, many of the tenants have long-term contracts where 
only upward revision of rental rates is possible;

•	 Assofit is operating under the direction of a Receiver appointed by the Cyprus court to protect the rights of Arricano as a minority 
shareholder. Major strategic decisions are controlled by this Receiver, including potential transfers of significant assets and liabilities 
from/to the entity; and

•	 As at 31 December 2012 a significant proportion of the liabilities of Assofit are represented by loans payable to Filgate Credit 
Enterprises Limited. As part of the agreement between Arricano’s shareholders, these loans together with accrued interest are 
to be assigned from Filgate Credit Enterprises Limited to Assofit for a nominal price of EUR 1 each. Further, as an outcome of 
arbitration proceedings regarding the termination of the Shareholders Agreement between Arricano and Stockman Interhold S.A., 
The United Nations Commission on International Trade Law Tribunal issued a final award under which Arricano was ordered to 
take all steps required for these loans to be transferred to a subsidiary newly established by Assofit. This transfer will significantly 
increase the net assets of Assofit at the date it occurs.

As a result, Arricano’s Directors believe that the available-for-sale financial asset is not impaired as at 31 December 2012.

In August 2012, the shareholders of Arricano approved a pre-emptive share issue of an additional 25,848 ordinary shares at par  
value of EUR 1.00 each to the existing shareholders, bringing the total number of shares to 32,310. In September 2012 further 
shareholder resolutions were passed to increase Arricano’s share capital, bringing the total issued share capital to EUR 42,513.16  
and the total number of shares to 64,620,000 and the Parent Company’s share to 10,770,000 ordinary shares representing 16.67%  
of total shareholding. The Parent Company made a contribution to the share capital of Arricano of USD 6 thousand (equivalent  
of EUR 4 thousand) fully paid in cash which equalled 16.67% of the newly issued shares.

On 26 September 2012, in anticipation of a planned listing on the Alternative Investment Market (AIM) of the London Stock Exchange, 
the Board of Arricano approved issuance of 20,406,316 shares of Arricano to a series of investors in accordance with the previous 
shareholder resolution. However, as the listing did not proceed as planned, the monies paid by the new investors for the shares were 
returned to subscribers and 20,406,316 shares have remained unpaid. Consequently, Arricano commenced a forfeiture procedure over 
the 20,406,316 issued shares. This procedure provides for the return of the unpaid shares to Arricano and their consequent cancellation. 
Consequently, the Parent Company’s share in Arricano continued to represent 16.67% with 10,770,000 ordinary shares.

During 2012 the Parent Company recognised recovery of impairment of its investment in Arricano of USD 598 thousand  
(2011: impairment of USD 598 thousand).
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7	 Investments in associates continued
Loss of significant influence in 2012 continued
As at 31 December 2012 the net assets of Arricano include the following:

								        Total
								        recognised  
								        carrying  
(in thousands of USD)	 							       values

Net assets								        134,568
49.97% of loans receivable planned to be assigned to SPV							       61,687
Net assets								        196,255 

As at 31 December 2011 the net assets of Arricano include the following:

								        Total
								        recognised  
								        carrying  
(in thousands of USD)	 							       values

Net assets attributable to Arricano								        114,689
49.97% of loans receivable planned to be assigned to SPV							       61,687
Net assets								        176,376

At the date that these financial statements were authorised for issuance there is ongoing litigation between Arricano and Stockman 
that may ultimately delay the contribution of the loans extended to the Sky Mall project that are planned to be assigned to the SPV.
 
8	 Investments in subsidiaries
Investments in subsidiaries as at 31 December are as follows:

(in thousands of USD)	 						      2012	 2011

Glangate LTD							       2	 2
Landshere LTD							       3	 3
Landzone LTD							       6,503	 6,503
Linkdell LTD							       3	 3
Linkrose LTD							       3	 3
Mountcrest LTD							       64	 64
Riverscope LTD							       3	 3
Startide LTD							       3	 3
Ukrainian Development Holding LTD							       –	 46
Ukrainian Properties LTD							       –	 1
							       6,584	 6,631
Impairment							       (1,539)	 (86)
							       5,045	 6,545

During 2012 the Parent Company sold 100% of its interest in Ukrainian Development Holding LTD and Ukrainian Properties LTD  
(see note 4).

9	 Long-term loans receivable
Included in long-term loans receivable is an unsecured loan provided by the Group to Commercial Construction LLC at a 2% p.a. 
fixed interest rate. The purpose of the loan was to finance construction of showcase houses in the cottage community Green Hills. 
As at 31 December 2012 long-term loans receivable due from Commercial Construction LLC totalled USD 632 thousand, including 
accrued interest of USD 97 thousand (31 December 2011: USD 920 thousand, including accrued interest of USD 81 thousand).
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10	 Inventories
Inventories as at 31 December are as follows:

						      Parent		  Parent
					    Consolidated	 Company	 Consolidated	 Company 
(in thousands of USD)					     2012	 2012	 2011	 2011

Trading property					     8,500	 –	 10,200	 –
Trading property under construction					     36,010	 –	 –	 –
Other inventory					     69	 –	 47	 –
Construction materials					     1	 –	 1	 –
Total					     44,580 	 –	 10,248	 –

As at 31 December 2012 and 2011 trading property was represented by the gated community Sadok Vyshnevyi (38 newly 
constructed flats in townhouses and relevant land plots).

As at 31 December 2012 trading property of USD 8,500 thousand (2011: USD 10,200 thousand) represented the net realisable 
value as estimated by the independent appraiser. The impairment loss for the year ended 31 December 2012 of USD 1,700 thousand 
(31 December 2011: USD 2,000 thousand) was recognised in profit or loss.

Since the start of construction at the beginning of 2012 the Obolon project was transferred from investment property to trading 
property under construction (see note 5). As at 31 December 2012 the property value of USD 36,010 thousand represented its fair 
value at the date of reclassification plus the construction costs incurred during 2012. No write down to net realisable value was made 
between the date of transfer to trading property under construction and 31 December 2012, as the appraised net realisable value 
exceeded cost at that date.

11	 Trade and other receivables
In January 2010 a portion of the loan to Commercial Construction LLC totalling USD 841 thousand (including accrued interest 
of USD 33 thousand) attributable to the Riviera Villas project was assigned to Intendancy, the Group’s partner in the Riviera Villas 
project, provided that Intendancy paid to the Group USD 841 thousand. The aforesaid consideration was to be paid to the Group 
within 180 working days from the date of registration of the assigned loan contract with the National Bank of Ukraine. During the 
year ended 31 December 2011 USD 569 thousand was paid to the Group. As at 31 December 2012 and as at 31 December 2011 
the remaining amount of USD 272 thousand is included in other receivables.

Other receivables also include a receivable due from Intendancy as at 31 December 2012 amounting to 1,316 thousand 
(2011: USD 866 thousand) that relates to the sale of land plots in the Riviera Villas project in accordance with the Project  
Development Agreement concluded by the Group with Intendancy (see note 5).

Trade and other receivables as at 31 December are as follows:

						      Parent		  Parent
					    Consolidated	 Company	 Consolidated	 Company 
(in thousands of USD)					     2012	 2012	 2011	 2011

Dividends receivable					     1,138	 1,138	 –	 –
Other receivables					     1,811	 318	 1,291	 333
Prepayments made 					     478	 18	 458	 19
Total					     3,427	 1,474	 1,749	 352
				  
12	 Loans to Group companies
Loans to Group companies as at 31 December are as follows:

(in thousands of USD)	 						      2012	 2011

Loans to Group companies							       287,999	 267,547
Allowance for impairment						      	 (135,854)	 (116,591)
							       152,145	 150,956
		
The loans to Group companies are denominated in USD, unsecured, interest-free or interest-bearing (up to 11%) and repayable  
on demand.
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12	 Loans to Group companies continued
The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of loans to Group companies during the years ended 31 December was  
as follows:

(in thousands of USD)	 						      2012	 2011

Balance at 1 January							       (116,591)	 –
Impairment loss recognised						      	 (19,263)	 (116,591)
Balance at 31 December						      	 (135,854)	 (116,591)
		
The impairment loss on loans to Group companies is included in net finance costs, and results from the decrease in the fair values  
of land plots held by the Group companies that serve as underlying asset for these loans, and decrease in investment properties  
held by Group companies.

13	 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents as at 31 December are as follows:

						      Parent		  Parent
					    Consolidated	 Company	 Consolidated	 Company 
(in thousands of USD)					     2012	 2012	 2011	 2011

Bank balances					     1,706	 1,149	 2,903	 2,252
Call deposits					     20,009	 13,900	 25,801	 20,800
Total					     21,715	 15,049	 28,704	 23,052
				  
The following table represents an analysis of cash and cash equivalents based on Fitch as at 31 December:

						      Parent		  Parent
					    Consolidated	 Company	 Consolidated	 Company 
(in thousands of USD)					     2012	 2012	 2011	 2011

Bank balances				  
AA					     702	 702	 15	 15
A+					     65	 2	 2	 2
A					     462	 445	 2,273	 2,235
BB+					     15	 –	 356	 –
B					     436	 –	 257	 –
CCC					     26	 –	 –	 –
					     1,706	 1,149	 2,903	 2,252
Call deposits				  
AA					     3,900 	 3,900 	 20,800 	 20,800 
A					     15,000 	 10,000	 5,000 	 –
BB+					     –	 –	 1	 –
B					     450	 –	 –	 –
CCC					     659	 –	 –	 –
					     20,009	 13,900	 25,801	 20,800
Total					     21,715	 15,049	 28,704	 23,052

As at 31 December 2012 the Group had deposit balances with Alpha Bank (Cyprus) for total amount of USD 659 thousand (equivalent 
to EUR 500 thousand) that are pledged in favour of Alpha Bank which in turn has issued a guarantee in favour of the Nicosia District 
Court provided in order to obtain an Interim Prohibitive Order against Arricano Real Estate plc and Retail Real Estate S.A. The Interim 
Prohibitive Order was issued as a part of the Request for Arbitration proceedings for the breach of SHA described in note 22(a).
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14	 Equity
Movements in share capital and share premium as at 31 December are as follows:

							       Ordinary	
							       shares	 Amount 
							       Number of	 Thousand  
							       shares 	 of USD

Outstanding as at 31 December 2007, fully paid						      140,630,300	 2,813
Issued during 2008						      1,698,416	 34
Own shares repurchased and cancelled during 2008						      (8,943,000)	 (179)
Outstanding as at 31 December 2008, fully paid						      133,385,716	 2,668
Own shares repurchased and cancelled during 2009						      (15,669,201)	 (314)
Outstanding as at 31 December 2009, fully paid						      117,716,515	 2,354
Outstanding as at 31 December 2010, fully paid						      117,716,515	 2,354
Own shares repurchased and cancelled during 2011					     	 (8,355,000)	 (167)
Outstanding as at 31 December 2011, fully paid	 					     109,361,515	 2,187
Outstanding as at 31 December 2012, fully paid	 					     109,361,515	 2,187
		
The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share 
at meetings of the Parent Company. The par value per ordinary share is USD 0.02.

As part of an initial public offering on 1 June 2007 104,000,000 ordinary shares were sold to certain institutional investors at a price 
of USD 2.00 per ordinary share, raising gross proceeds of USD 208,000 thousand. In addition 36,630,100 ordinary shares were sold 
on 29 November 2007 at a price of USD 2.73 per ordinary share, raising gross proceeds of USD 100,000 thousand. The difference 
between net proceeds per share and par value is recognised as share premium.

During 2008 the Group issued 1,698,416 new ordinary shares at a price of USD 2.60 per ordinary share to settle 70% of the 
manager’s performance fee for 2007 in the amount of USD 4,432 thousand. 

All issued shares are authorised and fully paid. Total authorised shares are 300,000,000.

Following the extraordinary general meetings of members of the Parent Company on 31 July 2008 and 1 December 2008, 
11,948,000 of its own shares were repurchased by the Parent Company and were cancelled. The purchase price of repurchased 
shares ranged from USD 0.50 to USD 1.47 per share. The difference between the total price paid and par value is recognised 
as a share premium decrease.

Following the extraordinary general meeting of members of the Parent Company on 29 May 2009, 12,664,201 of its own shares  
were repurchased by the Parent Company and were cancelled. The purchase price of acquired shares ranged from USD 0.53  
to USD 0.68 per share. The difference between the total price paid and par value is recognised as share premium decrease.

Following the extraordinary general meetings of members of the Parent Company on 9 November 2011 and 12 December 2011, 
8,355,000 of its own shares were repurchased by the Parent Company and were cancelled. The purchase price of acquired shares 
ranged from USD 0.48 to USD 0.63 per share. The difference between the total price paid and par value is recognised as share 
premium decrease.

15	 Finance lease liabilities
Finance lease liabilities as at 31 December are as follows:

					     Present			   Present
			   Future		  value of	 Future		  value of 
		  	 minimum		  minimum	 minimum		  minimum 
		  	 lease		  lease	 lease		  lease 
			   payments	 Interest	 payments	 payments	 Interest	 payments 
(in thousands of USD)			   2012	 2012	 2012	 2011	 2011	 2011

Less than one year			   141	 70	 71	 499	 468	 31
Between one and five years			   316	 204	 112	 1,968	 1,786	 182
More than five years			   1,146	 891	 255	 17,013	 14,097	 2,916
		  	 1,603	 1,165	 438	 19,480	 16,351	 3,129
						    
The imputed finance costs on the liabilities are based on the Group’s incremental borrowing rate in UAH of 15.9% per annum in 2012, 
(2011: 15.0%). At the dates of entering the lease agreements the Group had no external borrowings, therefore, the incremental 
borrowing rate was estimated based on available market information.
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15	 Finance lease liabilities continued
Future minimum lease payments as at 31 December 2012 are based on the Directors’ assessment and calculated based on the 
actual lease payments effective as at 31 December 2012. The future lease payments are subject to review and approval by various 
municipal authorities and may differ from the Directors’ assessment. As a result of revised conditions for land lease agreements by 
municipal authorities during the year ended 31 December 2012 finance lease liabilities were reassessed. As a result finance lease 
liabilities on the Obolon project decreased by USD 194 thousand and finance lease liabilities on the Kremenchug project decreased 
by USD 2,310 thousand (see note 5).

The contractual maturity of land lease agreements is 2023-2024. The Group intends to prolong these lease agreements for the period 
of construction and usage of the investment property being constructed on the leased land. Consequently, the minimum lease 
payments are calculated for a period of 15-50 years.
 
16	 Taxation
(a)	 Income tax benefit
Income taxes for the years ended 31 December are as follows:

						      Parent		  Parent
					    Consolidated	 Company	 Consolidated	 Company 
(in thousands of USD)					     2012	 2012	 2011	 2011

Current tax expense					     (17)	 –	 –	 –
Deferred income tax benefit					     1,024	 –	 1,149	 –
Total income tax benefit					     1,007	 –	 1,149	 –
				  
Based on legislation enacted in December 2010, on 1 January 2011 a new tax code became effective in Ukraine. Amongst other changes 
the new tax code changed the corporate profit tax rates. For the three month period ended 31 March 2011 a corporate income tax rate of 
25% was applied. Reduced rates of 23% and 21% apply from 1 April 2011 and 1 January 2012, respectively, and will be decreased further 
to 19% in 2013. From 2014 onwards the tax rate will be fixed at 16%.

The applicable tax rate is 10% for Cyprus companies and 0% for British Virgin Islands and the Isle of Man.

(b)	 Reconciliation of effective tax rate
The difference between the total expected income tax benefit for the years ended 31 December computed by applying the Ukrainian 
statutory income tax rate to losses before tax and the reported tax benefit is as follows:

(in thousands of USD)					     2012	 %	 2011	 %

Loss before income tax				    	 (16,280)	 100	 (78,643)	 100
Computed expected income tax benefit at statutory rate			   	 (3,418)	 21	 (18,087)	 23
Effect of income taxed at lower tax rates					     (11)	 –	 7,368	 (10)
Change in unrecognised temporary differences					     1,936	 (12)	 8,911	 (11)
Non-deductible expenses					     486	 (3)	 659	 (1)
Effective income tax benefit					     (1,007)	 6	 (1,149)	 1
				  
(c)	 Recognised deferred tax liabilities
The movement in deferred tax liabilities for the year ended 31 December 2012 is as follows:

						      	 Effect of 
							       transfer	 	
				    			   from 	  
							       investment 
					     1 January		  property to	 31 December 
					     2012	 Recognised	 trading 	 2012	
(in thousands of USD)					      liability	 in income	 property	 liability

Investment properties					     (11,308)	 1,097	 5,529	 (4,682)
Trading properties under construction					     –	 388	 (5,529)	 (5,141)
Finance lease liabilities					     531	 (461)	 –	 70
Deferred tax liabilities					     (10,777)	 1,024	 –	 (9,753)
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(c)	 Recognised deferred tax liabilities continued
The movement in deferred tax liabilities for the year ended 31 December 2011 is as follows:

						      1 January	 Recognised	31 December 
(in thousands of USD)				    		  2011 liability	 in income	 2011 liability

Investment properties						      (12,438)	 1,130	 (11,308)
Finance lease liabilities						      512	 19	 531
Deferred tax liabilities						      (11,926)	 1,149	 (10,777)
				  
(d)	 Unrecognised deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets as at 31 December have not been recognised in respect of the following items:

						      Parent		  Parent
					    Consolidated	 Company	 Consolidated	 Company 
(in thousands of USD)					     2012	 2012	 2011	 2011

Prepayment for land					     6,796	 –	 5,774	 –
Trading property					     417	 –	 247	 –
Tax loss carry-forwards					     5,726	 –	 4,982	 –
					     12,939	 –	 11,003	 –
				  
In accordance with existing Ukrainian legislation tax losses can be carried forward and utilised indefinitely. Deferred tax assets have 
not been recognised in respect of these items because it is not probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the 
Group can utilise the benefits therefrom.
 
17	 Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables as at 31 December are as follows:

						      Parent		  Parent
					    Consolidated	 Company	 Consolidated	 Company 
(in thousands of USD)					     2012	 2012	 2011	 2011

Management fees					     1,474	 1,474	 1,089	 1,089
Other payables and accrued expenses					     3,667	 338	 2,151	 599
Total current liabilities					     5,141	 1,812	 3,240	 1,688
				  
18	 Management and performance fees
Management and performance fees for the years ended 31 December are as follows:

						      Parent		  Parent
					    Consolidated	 Company	 Consolidated	 Company 
(in thousands of USD)					     2012	 2012	 2011	 2011

Management fee					     3,109 	 3,109 	 3,315	 3,315
Total					     3,109 	 3,109 	 3,315	 3,315
				  
Initial management agreement
The Parent Company entered into a management agreement dated 16 May 2007 (the Management Agreement) with Dragon Capital 
Partners Ltd (the Manager) pursuant to which the latter has agreed to provide advisory, management and monitoring services to the 
Group. The Parent Company may terminate the manager’s appointment on at least six months written notice expiring on or after the 
fifth anniversary of admission to AIM, or without written notice subject to certain criteria.

In consideration for its services thereunder, the Manager was entitled to be paid an annual management fee of 1.5% of the gross 
asset value of the Group at the end of the relevant accounting period or part thereof plus value added tax or similar taxes which 
may be applicable. In addition the Manager was entitled to performance fees based on the Net Asset Value (NAV) growth.

Revised management agreement
On 23 April 2010 the Board approved changes to the Management Agreement between the Manager and the Parent Company 
effective as at 31 December 2009 (Revised Management Agreement). The performance fee was divided into two parts. One is based 
on NAV growth, and the second on share price growth. Therefore, prior to the Revised Management Agreement the Manager was 
entitled to an annual performance fee of 20% of the amount of such increase in NAV growth in excess of 10%, and under the Revised 
Management Agreement the Manager is entitled to 10% of the amount of such increase in NAV growth in excess of 10%. The other 
performance fee of 10% is calculated based on the amount by which the final share price growth exceeds 10% from the base share 
price set at GBP 1.085 per share.

The next level of performance fee that was based on the growth of NAV by more than 35% was cancelled.
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18	 Management and performance fees continued
Payment of 30% of the performance fee will be made within 10 business days following the publication of the audited financial results for 
the relevant accounting period. The remaining balance will be satisfied by the issue of ordinary shares at a price equal to the average middle 
market closing price of ordinary shares over the last 20 business days in the accounting period in relation to which the performance fee is 
being paid. Additionally, the part of the performance fee payable in shares (70%) is now allocated based on the ratio of NAV and base share 
price, but not at the actual share price.

The management fee is paid semi-annually in arrears at a rate of 1.5% of management fee gross asset value (MFGAV).

Under the terms of the Revised Management Agreement, the MFGAV is the aggregate of the consolidated non-current and current 
assets adjusted to reflect the fair market value of its properties less its consolidated liabilities (excluding bank or third party indebtedness 
and the value of the management fee to be paid to the Manager in respect of the relevant accounting reference period).
 
Net Asset Value (NAV) is defined as the consolidated non-current and current assets adjusted to reflect the fair market value  
of properties after adding back any dividends declared or paid in relation to such period and less the consolidated liabilities.

Since 1 December 2011 the Management Agreement has been subject to termination with six months’ notice by either party.

The total management fee for the year ended 31 December 2012 is USD 3,109 thousand (31 December 2011: USD 3,315 thousand). 
No performance fee is applicable based on the results of 2012 or 2011.
 
19	 Share-based payments
On 16 May 2007 the Parent Company granted share options, conditional on the public issuance of shares, to subscribe for up 
to 100,000 ordinary shares to Mr. van der Heijden, a Director of the Parent Company.

On 16 May 2007 the Parent Company entered into the Dragon Capital Partners Warrant Instrument and the Zimmerman Adams 
International Ltd (ZAI) Warrant Instrument. These warrants entitle Dragon Capital Partners and ZAI to subscribe for such number 
of ordinary shares as is equal to 5% and 1%, respectively, of publicly issued shares from 1 June 2007 and terminating five years 
thereafter. The warrants are exercisable at the market price of the shares at the date of grant.

The terms and conditions of the options and warrants granted are as follows:

	 Options				    Warrants 
	 granted to	 Warrants granted to		  granted 
	 Mr. van der Heijden	 Dragon Capital Partners		  to ZAI
Date granted	 16 May 2007	 16 May 2007		  29 November 2007	 16 May 2007	 Total

Date granted	 16 May 2007	 16 May 2007	 29 November 2007	 16 May 2007	
Number of instruments	 100,000	 5,200,000	 1,831,505	 1,040,000	 8,171,505
Vesting period	 1-5 years	 Immediately	 Immediately	 Immediately	
Expiry dates	 (1)	 16 May	 29 November	 16 May  
		  2012	 2012	 2012	
Exercise price	 USD 2.00	 USD 2.00	 GBP 1.30	 USD 2.00	
Share-based compensation  

(USD thousand) during 2011	 6	 –	 –	 –	 6
Share-based compensation  

(USD thousand) during 2012	 3	 –	 –	 –	 3

(1) – These options are exercisable by Mr. van der Heijden only while he remains a Director and will lapse on the termination of his appointment.

Mr. van der Heijden may not assign or transfer in whole or in part the rights under the option agreement at any time.

Options granted to Mr. van der Heijden vest as follows:

–	 10,000 options on 16 May 2008
–	 15,000 options on 16 May 2009
–	 20,000 options on 16 May 2010
–	 25,000 options on 16 May 2011
–	 30,000 options on 16 May 2012

There were no forfeited or exercised options during the years ended 31 December 2012 and 31 December 2011.
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Share-based payments recognised for the years ended 31 December are as follows:

(in thousands of USD)						      	 2012	 2011

Share options granted in 2007:							     
Share options (compensation expense)							       3	 6
Total share-based payments							       3	 6
		
The number and weighted average fair value and exercise price of share options and warrants is as follows:

					     Weighted	 Weighted	 Number of
					     average	 average	 options 
					     fair	 exercise	 and 
(in USD, except for number of shares)					     value	 price	 warrants

Outstanding at 31 December 2007					     0.88	 2.16	 8,171,505
Exercisable at 31 December 2007					     0.88	 2.17	 8,071,505
Exercisable at 31 December 2008					     0.83	 2.16	 8,081,505
Exercisable at 31 December 2009					     0.88	 2.01	 8,096,505
Exercisable at 31 December 2010					     0.71	 2.00	 8,116,505
Exercisable at 31 December 2011					     0.79	 2.00	 8,141,505
Exercisable at 31 December 2012					     1.00	 2.00	 100,000
			 
20	 Administrative expenses
Administrative expenses for the years ended 31 December are as follows:

						      Parent		  Parent
					    Consolidated	 Company	 Consolidated	 Company 
(in thousands of USD)					     2012	 2012	 2011	 2011

Professional services					     2,038 	 1,679	 530	 336
Advertising					     285	 36	 583 	 23
Directors’ fees					     244	 244	 125	 125
Audit fees				    	 150	 128	 160	 136
Wages and salaries					     71	 –	 202	 –
Bank charges					     31	 7	 42	 10
Insurance					     21	 21	 16	 16
Travel expenses					     12	 12	 6	 6
Share-based compensation					     3	 3	 6	 6
Other					     83	 10	 250	 20
Total administrative expenses					     2,938	 2,140	 1,920	 678
				  
21	 Net finance/(costs) income
Net finance/(cost) income for the years ended 31 December is as follows:

						      Parent		  Parent
					    Consolidated	 Company	 Consolidated	 Company 
(in thousands of USD)					     2012	 2012	 2011	 2011

Interest income on inter-Group loans					     –	 16,293	 –	 17,150
Interest income					     10	 56	 602	 10
Dividends					     –	 2,011	 –	 569
Impairment loss on loans receivable					     –	 (19,263)	 –	 (116,591)
Financial instruments (option) loss					     –	 –	 (2,637)	 –
Unrealised currency exchange gain/(losses)					     42	 15	 (96)	 (15)
Net financial (costs)/income					     52	 (888)	 (2,131)	 (98,877)
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22	 Contingencies
(a)	 Litigation
As at 31 December 2012 the land plot leased by Hindale Ltd. relating to Avenue Shopping Mall project on Komarova Avenue, Kyiv, had 
not been cleared of garages and there was a law suit relating to this project to which Promtek (a subsidiary of Hindale Ltd.) is an involved 
party. This law suit and difficulties in obtaining relevant permits may delay the start of construction works on the land plot. In addition the 
lease term for the land plot on which Hindale Ltd. is planning to construct the real estate has expired, and Hindale Ltd. may not be able to 
extend the lease term. Despite the fact that to date the Courts have decided in favour of the Group on this matter and that the Directors 
are confident that the Group will prevail in ongoing law suits, the Directors do not believe that they will obtain all relevant permits on time 
and, consequently, the construction works will not start as planned and the lease term will not be extended if needed without further 
delays. As a result impairment of investment in Hindale Ltd of USD 1,624 thousand was recognised in profit or loss for the year ended  
31 December 2012.

As set out in note 7, on 9 June 2011 the tribunal acting under the UNCITRAL rules rendered a Final Award in relation to Arricano 
according to which it was declared that Stockman had validly terminated the shareholders agreement with Assofit (Sky Mall project).

In addition, on 13 December 2011 the Sole Arbitrator acting under the London Court of International Arbitration (LCIA) rules rendered 
an award declaring that Stockman had validly terminated the Sky Mall Call Option.

As a result of the above events Arricano is no longer able to execute the Sky Mall Call Option and consequently does not control the Sky 
Mall project. Accordingly, the Sky Mall project has been deconsolidated in Arricano’s financial statements and was accounted for as an 
associate from June 2011 and from March 2012 as an available-for-sale financial asset.

On 11 October 2012, the Parent Company commenced three LCIA arbitrations against RRE and Arricano. Assuming that the claims do 
not settle, the Parent Company will commence a further International Chamber of Commerce (ICC) arbitration against RRE and Arricano, 
and an LCIA arbitration against Sigma Real Estate S.A. (Arricano’s related party). The arbitrations relate to (amongst other things) the 
Parent Company’s claims against the respondents for misrepresentation, breach of fiduciary duties and breach of contract.

Owing to the nature of the Parent Company’s claims and the remedies sought by the Parent Company (i.e. rescission of a contract) 
it is difficult to quantify the value of the claims. However, (as pleaded in the relevant Requests for Arbitration) the claims are for at least  
USD 3 million.

The parties are currently engaged in settlement negotiations and the arbitrations have been temporarily paused (albeit not formally 
stayed) before the respondents file their responses. The claims may therefore settle for less than the amount pleaded in the relevant 
Requests for Arbitration.

(b)	 Taxation contingencies
The Group performs most of its operations in Ukraine and therefore within the jurisdiction of the Ukrainian tax authorities. 
The Ukrainian tax system can be characterised by numerous taxes and frequently changing legislation which may be applied 
retrospectively, open to wide interpretation and in some cases conflict with other legislative requirements. Instances of inconsistent 
opinions between local, regional and national tax authorities and the Ministry of Finance are not unusual. Tax declarations are subject 
to review and investigation by a number of authorities that are empowered by law to impose severe fines, penalties and interest 
charges. A tax year remains open for review by the tax authorities during the three subsequent calendar years, however under certain 
circumstances a tax year may remain open longer. These facts create tax risks substantially more significant than typically found in 
countries with more developed systems.

The Directors believe that the Group has adequately provided for tax liabilities based on its interpretation of tax legislation, 
official pronouncements and court decisions. However, the interpretations of the relevant authorities could differ and the effect 
on the consolidated financial statements, if the authorities were successful in enforcing their interpretations, could be significant. 
No provisions for potential tax assessments have been made in these consolidated financial statements.

(c)	 Insurance
The Group does not have full coverage for its property, business interruption, or third party liability in respect of property or environmental 
damage arising from accidents on Group property or relating to Group operations. Until the Group obtains adequate insurance 
coverage, there is a risk that the loss or destruction of certain assets could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s operations 
and financial position.

(d)	 Capital expenditure and other commitments
As at 31 December 2012 outstanding commitments (including in relation to the financing of construction of investment properties) 
amounted to USD 3,860 thousand (31 December 2011: USD 7,913 thousand).
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23	 Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share
The calculation of basic earnings per share is based upon the net loss for the year ended 31 December 2012 attributable to the 
ordinary shareholders of the Parent Company of USD 13,771 thousand (2011: USD 73,970 thousand) and the weighted average 
number of ordinary shares outstanding calculated as follows:

(number of shares weighted during the period outstanding)						      2012	 2011

Shares issued on incorporation on 23 February 2007						      2	 2
Sub-division of GBP 1 shares into GBP 0.01 shares on 16 May 2007				    198	 198
Shares issued on 1 June 2007					     	 104,000,000	 104,000,000
Shares issued on 29 November 2007						      36,630,100	 36,630,100
Shares issued on 24 April 2008						      1,698,416	 1,698,416
Own shares buy-back in 2008						      (8,943,000)	 (8,943,000)
Own shares buy-back in 2009						      (15,669,201)	 (15,669,201)
Own shares buy-back in 2011						      (8,355,000)	 (185,951)
Weighted average number of shares for the period					     109,361,515	 117,530,564
		
Diluted earnings per share
Because during the years ended 31 December 2012 and 2011 the average market price of ordinary shares was below the exercise 
price of the share options and warrants these options and warrants have no dilutive effect.
 
24	 Financial risk management
Exposure to credit, interest rate and currency risk arises in the normal course of the Group’s business. The Group does not hedge 
its exposure to such risks.

(a)	 Risk management policy
The Board has assessed major risks and grouped them in a register of significant risks. This register is reviewed by the Board  
at least twice per year or more often if there are circumstances requiring such a review.

(b)	 Credit risk
When the Group enters into an arrangement exposing it to credit risk, it does so only on the basis of due diligence research and 
the reputation of the counterparty. As at 31 December 2012 the largest exposures relate to prepayments made under three land 
acquisition contracts totalling USD 57,200 thousand (31 December 2011: USD 67,100 thousand). This latter risk is mitigated by 
pledge agreements for corporate rights of the pledgor in the entities that own the land to be acquired.

(i)	 Trade and other receivables
The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each customer. As at 31 December 2012, 
USD 1,661 thousand or 48.12% of total trade and other receivables are due from a single customer (31 December 2011: USD 1,049 
thousand or 60.0%).

The exposure to credit risk is approved and monitored on an ongoing basis individually for all significant customers.

The Group does not require collateral in respect of trade and other receivables.

The Group establishes an allowance for impairment that represents its estimate of incurred losses in respect of trade and other 
receivables and loans receivable. The main components of this allowance are a specific loss component that relates to individually 
significant exposures, and a collective loss component established for groups of similar assets in respect of losses that have been 
incurred but not yet identified. The collective loss allowance is determined based on historical data of payment statistics for similar 
financial assets. As at the balance sheet date the Group had no such collective impairment provision.
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24	 Financial risk management continued
(ii)	 Exposure to credit risk
The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The maximum exposure to credit risk as at  
31 December is as follows:

						      Parent		  Parent
					    Consolidated	 Company	 Consolidated	 Company 
(in thousands of USD)					     2012	 2012	 2011	 2011

Loans receivable					     632	 152,145	 920	 150,956
Trade and other receivables					     2,949	 1,456	 1,291	 333
Cash and cash equivalents					     21,715	 15,049	 28,704	 23,052
					     25,296	 168,650	 30,915	 174,341
				  
(c)	 Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with its financial liabilities that 
are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. The Group’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, 
that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring 
unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation.

The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including interest payments as of 31 December 2012:

	 	 Contractual cash flows

				    Carrying	 	 Within one		  More than 
(in thousands of USD)				    amount	 Total	 year	 2-5 years	 5 years

Finance lease liabilities				    438	 1,603	 141	 316	 1,146
Trade and other payables				    5,141	 5,141	 5,141	 –	 –
				    5,579	 6,744	 5,282	 316	 1,146
					   
The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including interest payments as of 31 December 2011:

	 	 Contractual cash flows

				    Carrying	 	 Within one		  More than 
(in thousands of USD)				    amount	 Total	 year	 2-5 years	 5 years

Finance lease liabilities				    3,129	 19,480	 499	 1,968	 17,013
Trade and other payables				    3,240	 3,240	 3,240	 –	 –
				    6,369	 22,720	 3,739	 1,968	 17,013
					   
(d)	 Interest rate risk
Changes in interest rates impact primarily cash and cash equivalents by changing either their fair value (fixed rate deposits) or their 
future cash flows (variable rate deposits). The Directors do not have a formal policy of determining how much of the Group’s exposure 
should be to fixed or variable rates. However, at the time of placing new deposits the Directors use their judgment to decide whether 
they believe that a fixed or variable rate would be more favourable over the expected period until maturity.

As at 31 December 2012 and 2011 all financial assets and liabilities had fixed interest rates. The Group does not account for fixed rate 
instruments at fair value through profit or loss. Therefore a change in interest rates as at 31 December 2012 would not affect profit or loss.

(e)	 Foreign currency risk
The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk on sales, purchases and borrowings that are denominated in a currency other than the 
functional currencies of the respective Group entities. The currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily UAH and EUR. The exposure 
to foreign currency risk as at 31 December is as follows based on notional amounts:

				    2012	 2011	

(in thousands of USD)			   EUR	 GBP	 UAH	 EUR	 GBP	 UAH

Current assets						    
Cash and cash equivalent			   662	 1	 886	 9	 17	 276
Trade and other receivables			   26	 –	 565	 10	 –	 1,470
Non-current liabilities						    
Finance lease liabilities			   –	 –	 (367)	 –	 –	 (3,098)
Current liabilities						    
Trade and other payables			   (41)	 (9)	 (404)	 (34)	 (9)	 (709)
Current portion of finance lease liabilities			   –	 –	 (71)	 –	 –	 (31)
Net long/(short) position			   647	 (8)	 609	 (15)	 8	 (2,092)
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The foreign exchange rates of the USD at 31 December are as follows:

Currency							       2012	 2011

EUR						      	 1.3183	 1.2889
GBP							       1.6137	 1.5417
UAH						      	 0.1251	 0.1252

As at 31 December 2012 a 10% weakening of the US dollar against the UAH would have decreased post-tax loss and increased 
equity by USD 48 thousand (2011: USD 161 thousand).

As at 31 December 2012 a 10% weakening of the US dollar against the GBP would have increased post-tax loss and decreased 
equity by USD 1 thousand (2011: increase by USD 1 thousand).

As at 31 December 2012 a 10% weakening of the US dollar against the EUR would have decreased post-tax loss and increased 
equity by USD 51 thousand (2011: USD 1 thousand).

This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant.

(f)	 Fair values
The Directors believe that the carrying values of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities approximates the fair values as at  
31 December 2012 and 31 December 2011 because of their short-term nature. The fair value of finance lease liabilities is estimated 
to approximate its carrying value because the discount rates used in the calculation of value are consistent with current market 
borrowing rates for similar instruments at the year end.

(g)	 Capital management
The Group has no formal policy for capital management but the Directors seek to maintain a sufficient capital base for meeting 
the Group’s operational and strategic needs, and to maintain confidence of market participants. This is achieved by efficient cash 
management and constant monitoring of investment projects.

From time to time the Parent Company purchases its own shares on the market; the timing of these purchases depends on market 
prices. Buy decisions are made on a specific transaction basis by the Board within the limits approved by the Parent Company’s 
shareholders. The Parent Company does not have a defined share buy-back plan.

There were no changes in the Group’s approach to capital management during the year.

Neither the Parent Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to externally imposed capital requirements.

25	 Related party transactions
(a)	 Transactions with management and close family members
(i)	 Directors’ remuneration
Directors’ compensation included in the statement of comprehensive income for the years ended 31 December is as follows:

(in thousands of USD)							       2012	 2011

Directors’ fees							       244	 125
Share-based payment expense (options granted)							       3	 6
Reimbursement of travel expense							       12	 2
Total management remuneration							       259	 133
		
(ii)	 Key management personnel and director transactions
The Directors’ interests in shares in the Parent Company as at 31 December as follows:

	 2012		  2011

					     Number	 Ownership,	 Number	 Ownership, 
					     of shares	 %	 of shares	 %

Aloysius Johannes van der Heijden				    	 200,000	 0.18	 200,000	 0.18
Tomas Fiala				    	 16,085,227	 14.71	 9,804,069	 8.96
				    	 16,285,227	 14.89	 10,004,069	 9.14
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25	 Related party transactions continued
(a)	 Transactions with management and close family members continued
(ii)	 Key management personnel and director transactions continued
Mr. Tomas Fiala, one of the Parent Company’s Directors, is the principal shareholder and Managing Director of Dragon Capital Group 
which acquired 6,831,500 shares (6.25%) of the Parent Company during the first (June 2007) and second (November 2007) share 
issues. Also Mr. Tomas Fiala is a Director in Dragon Capital Partners which received 1,698,416 (1.55%) ordinary shares at a price 
of USD 2.60 per ordinary share to settle 70% of the Manager’s performance fee for 2007 in the amount of USD 4,432 thousand.

Through a series of market purchases in 2011 (totalling 1,274,153 ordinary shares) and 2012 (totalling 6,281,158 ordinary shares) 
the holding of Dragon Capital Group in the Parent Company has increased to 16,085,227 ordinary shares or 14.71% of the Parent 
Company’s issued shares as at 31 December 2012.

(b)	 Transactions with other related parties
Expenses incurred and outstanding balances of transactions for the years ended 31 December are as follows:

	 2012		  2011

						      Balance		  Balance 
(in thousands of USD)					    Transactions	 outstanding	 Transactions	 outstanding

Management fee for project management to be paid 					     59	 8	 198	 –
Registered office rental expenses					     35	 –	 –	 –
				    	 94	 8	 198	 –
				  
All outstanding balances are to be settled in cash. None of the balances are secured.

The total management fee for the year ended 31 December 2012 is USD 3,109 thousand (31 December 2011: USD 3,315 thousand). 
No performance fee is applicable based on the results of 2012 or 2011 as described in note 18.

26	 Events subsequent to the reporting date
In February 2013 Dragon Capital Group made additional market purchases of 2,707,087 Parent Company shares, which resulted 
in a total shareholding of 18,792,314 ordinary shares, or 17.2%.
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Notes
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